
September 28, 2020 City Council Agenda   Page 1 of 3 

 
 

City of Lake Geneva, 626 Geneva St, Lake Geneva, WI 53147- 262.248.3673- www.cityoflakegeneva.com 
CITY OF LAKE GENEVA REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 28, 2020 6:00 P.M. 
LAKE GENEVA CITY HALL; COUNCIL CHAMBERS (MAIN LEVEL) 

 
Members:  

Mayor Charlene Klein, Council President, Rich Hedlund, Council Vice President, John Halverson,  
Alderpersons: Tim Dunn, Mary Jo Fesenmaier, Cindy Flower, Ken Howell, Shari Straube, and Joan Yunker 

 
THE CITY OF LAKE GENEVA IS HOLDING ALL MEETINGS VIRTUALLY AS WELL AS IN PERSON TO HELP PROTECT OUR 
COMMUNITY FROM THE CORONAVIRUS (COVID-19) PANDEMIC. IN-PERSON ATTENDANCE WILL BE LIMITED TO NO 
MORE THAN THIRTEEN PEOPLE, ON A FIRST COME FIRST SERVED BASIS. IF YOU WISH TO LISTEN OR WATCH THE 
MEETING YOU MAY DO SO BY USING THE FOLLOWING:  
 

1. Livestream at the City of Lake Geneva Vimeo Channel found here www.vimeo.com/lakegeneva 
 
2. Television:  Watch live broadcast of the meeting on Spectrum Cable Channel 25 
 
3. Listen to audio via phone: (602) 333-2017 (Long distance rates may apply) (888) 204-5987 (Toll Free) Access Code: 9746153 
 
4. You can provide public comment on agenda items by appearing in person or by emailing your comments to the Clerk at 

cityclerk@cityoflakegeneva.com or you may deliver your written comments to the City of Lake Geneva City Hall, 626 Geneva Street, Lake 
Geneva, WI  53147. All written comments must be provided to the Clerk by 5:00 P.M. on the date of the meeting.  All written comments will 
be read aloud during the agenda item when public comments are allowed during the meeting.  

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Mayor Klein call the meeting to order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance – Alderperson Fesenmaier 
 
3. Roll Call 

 
4. Awards, Presentations, Proclamations, and Announcements 

 
a. Announcement regarding Voting and the November 3, 2020 General Election 

 
5. Re-consider business from previous meeting 

 
6. Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 

hearing items. Comments will be limited to 5 minutes 
 

7. Acknowledgement of Correspondence 
 

8. Approve the Regular Council Minutes of September 14, 2020 as prepared and distributed 
 

9. CONSENT AGENDA– Recommended by Finance, Licensing and Regulation on September 15, 2020. Any item listed 
on the consent agenda may be removed at the request of any member of the Council.  The request requires no 
second, is not discussed, and is not voted upon. 
 

a. Tier 2 Event permit Application filed by the Downtown Business Improvement District for the event of 
Oktoberfest to be held October 10, 11, and 12, 2020 located in Flat Iron Park, Riviera Plaza, and various 
downtown areas  

 

http://www.vimeo.com/lakegeneva
mailto:cityclerk@cityoflakegeneva.com


September 28, 2020 City Council Agenda   Page 2 of 3 

 
b. Massage Establishment License for Aveda Jasmine Salon and Spa Group, located at 251 Cook Street  

 
10. Items removed from the Consent Agenda 

 
11. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 20-R64 a resolution to ratify the Emergency Proclamation approved by the 

Chief Executive Officer Pertaining to the COVID-19 Pandemic and Declaration of Emergency 
 

12. Discussion/Action regarding possible creation of a mask ordinance in anticipation of the expiration of Governor 
Evers’ Order 
 

13. Recommendation of the Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee of September 15, 2020- Ald. Howell 
 
a. Discussion/Action Peller Assessment due in October 2020 

 
b. Discussion/Action regarding release/satisfaction of that certain mortgage and development agreement against 

real property at 323 Broad Street 
 

c. Discussion/Action regarding purchase of two (2) Cemetery mowers to be paid from the Equipment 
Replacement Fund 
 

d. Discussion/Action regarding a Shared Fire & EMS Services Agreement with the Town of Linn and Town of 
Lyons for the term of 2021-2023  
 

e. Discussion/Acceptance of September 15, 2020 Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee Payment 
Approval Reports 
 

14. Recommendation of the Planning Commission of September 21, 2020- Ald. Dunn 
 

a. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 20-R65 a resolution authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use 
Permit (CUP) filed by Cory Englebert d.b.a. EPTC LLC., 1500 Avenue of Champions to utilize the property 
located at 801 Geneva Pkwy. for a Physical Activity Studio land use in the Planned Business Park (PBP) 
zoning district. Tax Key No. ZLGB00003 
 

b. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 20-R66 a resolution authorizing the issuance of a General 
Development Plan (GDP) filed by Thomas Keefe, d.b.a. Northern Waters LLC., 752 Geneva Pkwy. for a 
request to utilize the property located at 816 as a Bed & Breakfast land use in the Neighborhood Business 
(NB) zoning district. Tax Key No. ZOP00164 

 
c. Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 20-R67 Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Precise 

Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by McMurr II, LLC. 351 Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL 60654. for a 
request to construct 23 Single Family Homes to the property located at Summerhaven Subdivision Phase III. 
located in the Planned Development (PD) zoning district. Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00002 & ZA75400001 
 

15. Mayoral Appointments 
 

a. Appointment of Beth Tumas and T.R. Remke to the Downtown Business Improvement District with terms to 
expire January 1, 2022 

 
16. Motion to go into Closed Session pursuant to Wis. Stat. 19.85(1)(c) considering employment, promotion, 

compensation or performance evaluation data of any public employee over which the governmental body has 
jurisdiction or exercises responsibility: Appointing Vanessa Jahns to a higher classification to serve as Assistant City 
Clerk on a temporary basis until a permanent Assistant City Clerk can be hired 
 

17. Motion to return to open session pursuant to Wisconsin Statues 19.85 (2) and take action on any items discussed in 
closed session 



September 28, 2020 City Council Agenda   Page 3 of 3 

 
 

18. Adjournment 
 

Requests from persons with disabilities, who need assistance to participate in this meeting or hearing, should be made to the City 
Clerk’s office in advance so the appropriate accommodations can be made. 

 



September 14, 2020 City Council Minutes   Page 1 of 3 

 
 

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MINUTES 
MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2020 6:00 P.M. 
LAKE GENEVA CITY HALL; COUNCIL CHAMBERS (MAIN LEVEL) 
 
Members:  
Mayor Charlene Klein, Council President, Rich Hedlund, Council Vice President, John Halverson,  
Alderpersons: Tim Dunn, Mary Jo Fesenmaier, Cindy Flower, Ken Howell, Shari Straube, and Joan Yunker 

 
Mayor Klein called the meeting to order at 6:07 p.m. 
 
Alderperson Yunker led the Council in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Roll Call 
Present:  Hedlund, Halverson, Dunn, Fesenmaier, Flower, Howell, Straube, and Yunker 
Absent None 
 
Awards, Presentations, Proclamations, and Announcements 
 
Announcement regarding Voting and the November 3, 2020 General Election 
Clerk Kropf announced that in-person absentee voting will be conducted at City Hall in Council Chambers starting 
Tuesday, October 20, 2020 through Friday, October 30, 2020. She also added that there will be only one polling location 
(City Hall) due to the COVID-19 pandemic. More information is available on the City website and to watch for any 
updates regarding the election. 
 
Re-consider business from previous meeting 
None 
 
Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public hearing 
items. Comments will be limited to 5 minutes 
Jim Strauss; N1556 Meadow Ridge Cir; Spoke in opposition of Ordinance 20-12. 
 
Terry Johnson; 5141 Dailey Rd; Spoke in favor of Ordinance 20-12. 
 
Acknowledgement of Correspondence 
Clerk Kropf stated that she received one item of correspondence from Casey Schiche speaking in opposition of the 
proposed parking change on Wrigley Drive. All correspondence was forwarded to the members of the Common Council. 
 
Approve the Regular Council Minutes of August 24, 2020 as prepared and distributed 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Dunn. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA– Recommended by Finance, Licensing and Regulation on September 1, 2020. Any item listed on the 
consent agenda may be removed at the request of any member of the Council.  The request requires no second, is not 
discussed, and is not voted upon. 
 
Temporary Class “B” / Class B” Retailer’s License for St. Francis De Sales Church Fall Irish Fest, to be held September 
27, 2020, located at 148 W. Main St., Lake Geneva, WI 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Yunker. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Items removed from the Consent Agenda 
None 
 
Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 20-R63 a resolution to ratify the Emergency Proclamation approved by the Chief 
Executive Officer Pertaining to the COVID-19 Pandemic and Declaration of Emergency 
Clerk Kropf explained that she had brought this change forward due to the election. Currently the City Clerk is not able to 
use the Fire Department as a polling location due to the COVID-19 pandemic and that the only way to amend the election 

 



September 14, 2020 City Council Minutes   Page 2 of 3 

plan is to have the Council approve the polling location change within the emergency proclamation. She noted that she 
listed the expiration date of the Resolution as November 23, 2020 as election related practices and laws are ever-changing. 
 
Motion by Fesenmaier to amend the resolution to change the expiration date to November 9, 2020, second by Hedlund. 
Motion carried 7-1, with Howell voting no. 
 
The original motion was read and carried 8-0. 
 
Second Reading of Ordinance 20-12 an ordinance adding subsection (i)(1) and (i)(2), Boat Launching Staging and 
Launching Area, of Section 210, Parking Regulations, of Article VI, Traffic Code, of Chapter 74, Traffic and Vehicles of 
the City of Lake Geneva Municipal Code; relating to Boat Launching Staging and Launching Area on Wrigley Drive 
Attorney Draper indicated that the Fire Chief has some safety issues with the ordinance as presented. He further advised 
that the Council motion to continue this item until all of the issues have been fully vetted. 
 
Motion by Howell to continue, second by Halverson. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding possibly implementing Special Assessment Powers for infrastructure work to be completed 
within the 2021 Street Improvement Project 
Clerk Kropf explained that this agenda item had come from the Public Works Committee. It was the intent of the 
Committee to determine if Council was interested in pursuing Special Assessments for infrastructure work completed 
during a City Street Improvement Project. This discussion would not approve the City’s ability to exercise Special 
Assessment powers, but rather would direct staff to explore it.  
 
Motion by Flower to direct staff to research the Special Assessment process for future review, second by Hedlund.  
Attorney Draper stated that he would draft a memo outlining the process for Council consideration. Flower expressed 
desire to develop a policy as such. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Recommendation of the Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee of September 1, 2020- Ald. Howell 
 
Discussion/Action regarding an Original “Class B” Reserve Intoxicating Liquor & Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage 
License Application filed by Beachside Hospitality Inc d/b/a Barrique Bistro & Wine Bar, agent, Nancy Trilla, located at 
835 Wrigley Dr, Lake Geneva, WI  
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Halverson. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Discussion/ Action regarding renewal of Workers’ Compensation and Property & Liability Insurance with R & R 
Insurance Services, Inc. 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Hedlund. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Discussion/Action regarding payment of invoices related to replacement of two-inch water service at the Library building 
(Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee approved payment of 50% of total to be paid from the contingency fund)  
Motion by Howell to approve the half payment of total water service replacement to be paid from the contingency fund, 
second by Halverson. 
 
Motion to amend by Howell to pay the water service replacement from the contingency fund and to transfer funds to the 
Library fund, second by Halverson. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Original motion as amended carried 8-0. 
 
Discussion/Action Planning Commission Training Program in the amount of $7,350 (Finance, Licensing, and Regulation 
Committee approved including this expenditure in the 2021 Budget) 
Motion by Howell to approve adding the $7,350 Training Program Cost to the 2021 Budget, second by Hedlund. The 
Council discussed reviewing other Planning Service firms for this training. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
 
 
 



September 14, 2020 City Council Minutes   Page 3 of 3 

Discussion/Action regarding Resolution 20-R62 authorizing the use of $12,020 in Capital Projects unspent fund balance 
for the construction of a police storage building 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Yunker. Council discussion noted that the funds budgeted for this project was 
not sufficient for the bid amount. This resolution would authorize the additional funds needed to complete this project. 
Motion carried 8-0.  
 
Discussion/Action regarding awarding the bid for the Police Department Storage Building to Gilbank Construction in an 
amount not to exceed $181,000 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Hedlund. Flower indicated that she would like to wait until January 2021 to re-
bid this, as the costs seem high. Lt. Gritzner explained that he would be fearful to wait in case costs increase. Hedlund 
added that the police Department need this building for winter storage and does not want to push back the project. Motion 
carried 8-0. 
 
Discussion/Acceptance of September 1, 2020 Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee Payment Approval Reports 
Motion by Howell to accept, second by Halverson. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Mayoral Appointments 
 
Appointment of Laura Thompson to the Downtown Business Improvement District with a term to expire January 1, 2021 
Motion by Howell to approve, second by Yunker. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Appointment of Sonya Dailey to the Tree Board with a term to expire May 1, 2023 
Motion by Hedlund to approve, second by Yunker. No discussion. Motion carried 8-0. 
 
Adjournment 
Motion by Dunn to adjourn, second by Flower. Motion carried 8-0. The meeting adjourned at 7:13 p.m. 
 













Resolution 20-R64   Page 1 of 3 
 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 

Resolution to ratify the Emergency Proclamation approved by the Chief Executive Officer Pertaining to the 
COVID-19 Pandemic and Declaration of Emergency 

 
Committee: 

 
N/A 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 20-R64 Date: September 28, 2020 

 
WHEREAS, an emergency, namely the COVID-19 Pandemic, has impacted or is 

anticipated to impact the City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin; and 
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to sections 323.11 and 323.14(4)(b) of the Wisconsin Statutes, the 
chief executive officer of the City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin, proclaimed a state of emergency in 
effect from March 16, 2020 until the Council could meet; and 

 
WHEREAS, there continues to be a public health emergency as a result of the COVID-19 

Pandemic and continued measures must be taken to protect the public health and welfare of the 
citizens of the City of Lake Geneva, the employees of the City of Lake Geneva, and the many 
people who visit our city,   

  
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that pursuant to sections 323.11 and 323.14 of 

the Wisconsin Statutes hereby ratify Mayor Charlene Klein’s Proclamation of State of Emergency, 
dated July 27, 2020 and adopt as their own Proclamation of State of Emergency the following 
provisions to address the continuing public health emergency:  

 
1. Daily business at City Hall will be conducted as follows:  Clerk, Treasurer and Front Counter 
staff will provide service to the public via the counter in the City Hall vestibule.  Building and 
Zoning Department will serve the public via their vestibule adjacent to their offices.  Public access 
to the lobby of City Hall (with the exception for access to a public meeting as described below) 
will be prohibited. 
 
2. With respect to Municipal Court proceedings, specific guidelines have not been determined as 
of the date of this proclamation, however, once the public is permitted to enter City Hall for 
municipal court proceedings, the following is expected:  Individuals gaining access to the lobby 
and council chambers for municipal court purposes will have access to hand sanitizer and be 
required to wear a mask while in the building.  Masks will be made available, free of charge, 
immediately inside the lobby of City Hall.  Those attending court will be allowed to enter the west 
door of council chambers and instructed to exit using the east door of council chambers.  Council 
Chamber capacity will not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of full capacity as previously 
determined by the Lake Geneva Fire Department (25% capacity being 23 individuals.)  Seating 
within council chambers will be arranged to maximize recommended social distancing.  To 
maintain optimal social distancing; spectator chairs will not be allowed to be moved.  Designated 
city staff will be present during court proceedings to insure all regulations are obeyed.  Council 



Resolution 20-R64   Page 2 of 3 
 

Chambers will be thoroughly sanitized after each day’s proceedings are concluded.  
 
3. It is recommended that whenever in person staff meetings are required, there be created a 
“socialization distance” of 6 feet, however in the alternative, staff is encouraged to utilize the 
technology available to conduct such meetings virtually. 
 
4. With respect to all City Council, Committee, Boards, and Commissions, the following 
procedures will be adopted:  All City Council, City Boards, City Committees and City 
Commission meetings will be conducted in the City Council chambers.  City Hall lobby doors will 
be unlocked twenty (20) minutes prior to a scheduled meeting and locked twenty minutes after the 
conclusion of scheduled meetings.  Individuals gaining access to the lobby and council chambers 
for public meeting purposes will have access to hand sanitizer and be required to wear a mask 
while in the building.  Masks will be made available, free of charge, immediately inside the lobby 
of City Hall.  Those attending meetings at City Hall will be allowed to enter the west door of 
council chambers and instructed to exit using the east door of council chambers.  Council Chamber 
capacity will not exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of full capacity as previously determined by 
the Lake Geneva Fire Department (25% capacity being 23 individuals.)  Seating within council 
chambers will be arranged to maximize recommended social distancing.  To maintain optimal 
social distancing; spectator chairs will not be allowed to be moved.  Designated city staff will be 
present during meetings to insure all regulations are obeyed (including limiting capacity in the 
council from exceeding twenty-five percent, insuring all those present wear masks, and that proper 
social distancing is maintained.)  All members of the meeting body will have the option of 
attending and participating in the meeting in person at the council chambers or attending and 
participating remotely via the available applications such as zoom, go to meeting, etc.  City 
Council, Committee of the Whole, Plan Commission, Public Works Committee, Piers, Harbors, 
and Lakefront Committee, and Utility Commission meetings will be televised.  The presiding 
officers of the City Council, Plan Commission, and Committee of the Whole and chairs of all city 
committees, boards and commissions will be responsible for conducting their meetings, including 
operating remote meeting applications such as zoom, go to meeting, etc.  Those individual who 
attend an in person meeting will be required to provide their name and phone number for contact 
tracing purposes.  Those from the public who attend a meeting in person and who wish to provide 
“Public Comment” during the meeting will be required to “sign in” prior to the meeting and print 
their name, address, and telephone number, and provide a brief description of their public 
comment.  The sign in sheets will be located inside the council chambers and available twenty 
minutes before the meeting begins.  Council Chambers will be sanitized after the day’s meeting(s) 
are concluded. 
 
5. Riviera Beach will be open to resident beach pass holders only, every Wednesday from 9:00 a.m. 
to 1:00 p.m. 
  
6.Because of the economic effects of various emergency orders put in place since, March 12th, 2020, 
and to provide economic relief for our downtown businesses as well as promote more social 
distancing in their facilities during the pendency of this Proclamation of State of Emergency (until 
it expires, is amended or is rescinded), the provisions of Section 98-206(8)(f) of the City of Lake 
Geneva Zoning Code are relaxed to allow the placement of merchandise for sale in those areas 
designated for “Sidewalk Furnishings” as set forth in Section 62-67(9), of the Municipal Code of 
the City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin.  



Resolution 20-R64   Page 3 of 3 
 

7. The Lake Geneva Fire Department located at 730 Marshall Street will be closed November 3, 2020 as a 
polling place in an effort to protect the health of our first responders. City Hall located at 626 Geneva Street 
will be the sole polling place for Aldermanic Districts I, II, III, and IV for future elections until this 
emergency proclamation expires or is rescinded by the City Council. 
 
8. Due to Fall General Election and proceeding statutorily required voting procedures, the second meeting of 
the Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee in October shall be rescheduled to October 21, 2020 at 
5:30 p.m. and the first meeting of the Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee meeting in November 
shall be rescheduled to November 4, 2020 at 4:30 p.m. 
 
This Proclamation shall take effect immediately and shall continue in effect until November 9, 
2020 at 11:59 p.m. or such earlier time as a quorum of the Governing Body convenes and rescinds 
or alters this Proclamation. 
 
Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 28th day of September, 
2020. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
 

 

Charlene Klein, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                     Date 



STATE OF WISCONSIN   WALWORTH COUNTY   CITY 
OF LAKE GENEVA 

 

ORDINANCE No. 

AN ORDINANCE CREATING SECTION 12 
“FACE COVERING REQUIREMENTS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC,” new 
ARTICLE VI 
OF CHAPTER 50 “Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions” 
OF THE CITY OF LAKE GENEVA MUNICIPAL CODE. 
 
Whereas, as of July 7, 2020, COVID-19 cases have been on the rise in Wisconsin and 
specifically Walworth County; and 
 
Whereas, businesses in the City of Lake Geneva have closed due to employee positive cases of 
COVID-19; and 
 
Whereas, public spaces and businesses are open for in-person operations in the City of Lake 
Geneva, increasing the potential for further community spread of COVID-19; and 
 
Whereas, COVID-19 is primarily spread when people are in close proximity with each other 
including people showing symptoms or asymptomatic who are transmitting this virus through 
sneezes, coughs, etc.; and 
 
Whereas, according to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), there is emerging evidence from 
clinical and laboratory studies that demonstrates cloth face masks reduce the virus droplets; and 
 
Whereas, wearing a face mask is one of the most effective ways to reduce person-to-person 
transmission of COVID-19. Face masks serve as a barrier to prevent droplets from entering the 
air, which is known as source control. When combined with other preventive measures, 
including physical distancing and especially proper hygiene practices such has soap and water 
handwashing, wearing face masks is a simple and effective way to reduce the risk of COVID-19 
transmission; and 
 
Whereas, according to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), the effectiveness of cloth face 
coverings at reducing the spread of COVID-19 is highest when masks are widely used by people 
in public settings. In settings where physical distancing is difficult to maintain, everyone wearing 
a face mask reduces the risk of transmission; 
 
Whereas, Secs. 323.11 and 323.14 of the Wisconsin Statutes authorize the governing body to 
order by ordinance or resolution, whatever is necessary and expedient for the health, safety, 
protection, and welfare of persons and property within the local unit of government during a 
declaration of emergency; (Alternative Provision) 
 



NOW THEREFORE, at a regular meeting of the City of Lake Geneva, Walworth County, 
Wisconsin, held on this          day of July, 2020, by a majority vote of the members being present, 
therefore said Council does ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1 
As used in this section, the following terms shall have the meaning indicated: 
 
 
FACE COVERING 
A protective mask covering the nose and mouth, including, but not limited to cloth face 
coverings or surgical masks. 
 
BUILDING AREA OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.   
An area in a public or privately-owned structure, including exterior parts of the building, such as 
a porch, exterior platform or steps providing means of ingress or egress that the public is 
invited or allowed to frequent.   
 
An example of an area of a building open to the public would be the public reception lobby of a 
manufacturing building.  That same building may have 200 employees working in areas not 
open to the public.  Those 200 employees and others in that area of the building would not be 
required to wear masks under this ordinance.  Also, private residences and residential 
apartment buildings are not considered to be buildings open to the public under this ordinance. 
 
Section 2 
MASK REQUIRED  
Any person 4 years old or older who is present in the City of Lake Geneva shall have possession 
of a face covering when the person leaves home or other places of residence or temporary 
domicile. Visitors and residents shall wear the face covering in indoor and outdoor areas open 
to the public especially where 6-foot social distancing is not possible. 
 
MASK REQUIRED INDOORS IN CERTAIN AREAS. 
 
(a) Until further action by the Common Council amending or repealing this ordinance, any 
person 5 years old or older who is present in the City of Whitewater shall wear a face covering 
whenever the person is in a building open to the public and is in an area of the building open to 
the public, or in line inside or outside of the building to pick up food, drink or goods or waiting 
to enter such an area.  (Alternate Provision) 
 
(b) Masks shall be required for individuals who are attending the City of Lake Geneva Farmer’s 
Market on Thursdays and located in the block area on the north side of Broad Street and 
bordered by Geneva Street and Wisconsin Street.  (Alternate Provision)   
 



(c) MASK REQUIRED FOR CITY FACILITIES AND EMPLOYEES. The City Administrator shall 
establish a face covering requirement policy for all city employees and other persons on the 
premises of any city facility.  (Alternate Provision) 
 
Section 3 
EXCEPTIONS 
Exceptions for face coverings will be made under the following circumstances: 

(a) Persons under the age of 4. 
(b) Persons who fall into the Center for Disease Control and Prevention’s guidelines for 

those who should not wear face coverings due to medical condition, mental health 
condition, developmental disability, or are otherwise covered under the American with 
Disability Act. 

(c) Persons in settings where it is not practical or feasible to wear face coverings, including 
when obtaining goods or services such as the receipt of dental services, medical 
treatments, or eating food served at restaurants. 

(d) Persons in settings where it is not practical or feasible to wear face coverings when 
obtaining or rendering goods or services to the extent necessary to obtain or render 
such goods or services including, but not limited to, the receipt of dental services or 
medical treatments or consuming food or beverages.  (Alternate Provision) 

(e) Persons who have a written note from a healthcare provider excusing mask use. 
(Alternate Provision) 

(f) Persons who have upper-respiratory chronic conditions or other conditions or 
disabilities that make wearing a mask inappropriate.  If a person states that they have a 
medical condition that prevents them from wearing a mask it shall be assumed that it is 
true without further verification.  (Alternate Provision) 

(g) Whenever federal, state, or local law otherwise prohibit wearing a face mask or where it 
is necessary to evaluate or verify an individual’s identity.  (Alternate Provision) 

(h) Persons whose religious beliefs prevent them from wearing a face covering.  (Alternate 
Provision) 

(i) Public and private K through 12 schools that have a comprehensive safety plan in place. 
(Alternate Provision) 

(j) Childcare or youth facilities that have a comprehensive safety plan in place.  (Alternate 
Provisions) 

(k) In private residences and residential apartment buildings.  (Alternate Provision) 
 
Section 4 
OWNER/OPERATOR RESPONSIBILITIES. (Alternate Provision) 
 

(a) The owner (if the owner controls the day to day operations in the building) or operator 
of any building shall require that all persons present in the building area open to the 
public comply with Section 2 Masks Required.  (Alternate Provision) 

 



(b) RIGHT TO REFUSE SERVICE. The owner or operator of any building open to the public 
has the right to refuse entry or service to any person for failure to comply with Section 2 
Masks Required.  (Alternate Provision) 
 

Section 5 
ENFORCEMENT. (Alternate Provision) 
 

(a) The Police Department shall enforce this chapter by issuing a warning for first offenses 
and shall only issue a citation for first offenses if an individual refuses to comply with the 
ordinance after receiving a warning or for second and subsequent offenses.  (Alternate 
Provision) 

 
 
Section 6 
PENALTY 
The City of Lake Geneva Police Department and other staff will provide social distancing and 
face covering education when feasible. Interactions with the Public will remain positive and 
polite and convey the message that the City of Lake Geneva believes health and safety are the 
primary concern for this community of residents and visitors during this global pandemic. 
 

(a) Any person violating this ordinance and any owner (if the owner controls day to day 
operations) or operator of a building open to the public that does not enforce 
Section 2 Masks Required in the building shall, upon conviction, forfeit not less than 
$10.00 and not more than $40.00 for a first offense and not less than $50.00 and not 
more than $150.00 for second and subsequent offenses.  Each violation shall be 
considered a separate offense. 

 
 
SECTION 7 
That all Ordinances or parts of Ordinances conflicting with the provisions of this Ordinance are 
hereby to such extent repealed. 
 
SECTION 8 
That this Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its passage and posting, 
until January 25, 2020, unless extended or revoked by the City Council. 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED 
 
 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN   WALWORTH COUNTY   CITY 
OF LAKE GENEVA 

 

ORDINANCE No. 

AN ORDINANCE CREATING SECTION 12 “FACE COVERING REQUIREMENTS 
DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC,” new ARTICLE VI OF CHAPTER 50 “Offenses and 
Miscellaneous Provisions” OF THE CITY OF LAKE GENEVA MUNICIPAL CODE. 
 
Whereas, as of July 7, 2020, COVID-19 cases have been on the rise in Wisconsin and 
specifically Walworth County; and 
 
Whereas, businesses in the City of Lake Geneva have closed due to employee positive cases of 
COVID-19; and 
 
Whereas, public spaces and businesses are open for in-person operations in the City of Lake 
Geneva, increasing the potential for further community spread of COVID-19; and 
 
Whereas, COVID-19 is primarily spread when people are in close proximity with each other 
including people showing symptoms or asymptomatic who are transmitting this virus through 
sneezes, coughs, etc.; and 
 
Whereas, according to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), there is emerging evidence from 
clinical and laboratory studies that demonstrates cloth face masks reduce the virus droplets; and 
 
Whereas, wearing a face mask is one of the most effective ways to reduce person-to-person 
transmission of COVID-19. Face masks serve as a barrier to prevent droplets from entering the 
air, which is known as source control. When combined with other preventive measures, 
including physical distancing and especially proper hygiene practices such has soap and water 
handwashing, wearing face masks is a simple and effective way to reduce the risk of COVID-19 
transmission; and 
 
Whereas, according to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), the effectiveness of cloth face 
coverings at reducing the spread of COVID-19 is highest when masks are widely used by people 
in public settings. In settings where physical distancing is difficult to maintain, everyone wearing 
a face mask reduces the risk of transmission; 
 
Whereas, Secs. 323.11 and 323.14 of the Wisconsin Statutes authorize the governing body to 
order by ordinance or resolution, whatever is necessary and expedient for the health, safety, 
protection, and welfare of persons and property within the local unit of government during a 
declaration of emergency; (Alternative Provision) 
 
NOW THEREFORE, at a regular meeting of the City of Lake Geneva, Walworth County, 
Wisconsin, held on this          day of July, 2020, by a majority vote of the members being present, 
therefore said Council does ordain as follows: 
 



1. DEFINITIONS. 

a. "Enclosed space" means a confined space open to the public where individuals 
congregate, including but not limited to outdoor bars, outdoor restaurants, taxis, public 
transit, ride-share vehicles, and outdoor park structures. 

b. "Face covering'' means a piece of cloth or other material that is worn to cover the nose 
and mouth completely. A "face covering'' includes but is not limited to a bandana, a cloth 
face mask, a disposable or paper mask, a neck gaiter, or a religious face covering. A "face 
covering'' does not include face shields, mesh masks, masks with holes or openings, or 
masks with vents. 

c. "Physical distancing'' means maintaining at least six feet of distance from other 
individuals who are not members of your household or living unit. 

2. FACE COVERING REQUIRED. Every individual, age five and older, in Wisconsin shall 
wear a face covering if both of the following apply: 

a. The individual is indoors or in an enclosed space, other than at a private residence; and; 

b. Another person or persons who are not members of individual's household or living 
unit are present in the same room or enclosed space. Face coverings are strongly 
recommended in all other settings, including outdoors when it is not possible to maintain 
physical distancing. 

3. EXCEPTIONS. 

a. Individuals who are otherwise required to wear a face covering may remove the face 
covering in the following situations: 

i. While eating or drinking. 

ii. When communicating with an individual who is deaf or hard of hearing and 
communication cannot be achieved through other means.  

iii. While obtaining a service that requires the temporary removal of the face 
covering, such as dental services. 

iv. While sleeping. 

v. While swimming or on duty as a lifeguard. 

vi. While a single individual is giving a religious, political, media, educational, 
artistic, cultural, musical, or theatrical presentation for an audience, the single 
speaker may remove the face covering when actively speaking. While the face 
covering is removed, the speaker must remain at least 6 feet away from all other 
individuals at all times. 

vii. When engaging in work where wearing a face covering would create a risk to 
the individual, as determined by government safety guidelines. 



viii. When necessary to confirm the individual's identity, including when entering 
a bank, credit union, or other financial institution. 

ix. When federal or state law or regulations prohibit wearing a face covering. 

b. In accordance with CDC guidance, the following individuals are exempt from the face 
covering requirement in Section 2: 

i. Children between the ages of 2 and 5 are encouraged to wear a mask when 
physical distancing is not possible. The CDC does not recommend masks for 
children under the age of 2. 

ii. Individuals who have trouble breathing. 

iii. Individuals who are unconscious, incapacitated, or otherwise unable to remove 
the face covering without assistance. 

iv. Individuals with medical conditions, intellectual or developmental disabilities, 
mental health conditions, or other sensory sensitivities that prevent the individual 
from wearing a face covering. 

v. Incarcerated individuals. The Wisconsin Department of Corrections shall 
continue to comply with COVID-19 protocols to ensure the health and safety of 
its staff and individuals in its care. Local governments are strongly encouraged to 
continue or create COVID-19 protocols to ensure the health and safety of their 
staff and individuals in their care. 

4. LEGISLATURE AND JUDICIARY. State facilities or offices under the control of the 
Wisconsin State Legislature or the Wisconsin Supreme Court are exempt from this Order. The 
Wisconsin State Legislature and the Wisconsin Supreme Court may establish guidelines for face 
coverings that are consistent with the specific needs of their respective branches of government. 

5. PRESERVATION OF MEDICAL SUPPLIES. To conserve limited supplies of N95 masks 
and other medical-grade supplies, individuals are discouraged from using such supplies as face 
coverings. 

6. LOCAL ORDERS. This Order supersedes any local order that is less restrictive. Local 
governments may issue orders more restrictive than this Order.  

7. ENFORCEMENT. This order is enforceable by civil forfeiture of not more than $200. Wis. 
Stat. § 323.28. 

8. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Order or its application to any person or 
circumstances is held to be invalid, the remainder of the Order, including the application of such 
part or provision to other individuals or circumstances, shall not be affected and shall continue in 
full force and effect. To this end, the provisions of this Order are severable. 

 
PASSED and ADOPTED 



 
 
 



1

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA
DEFERRED SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

 OWNER PRINCIPAL COMMENTS



2

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA
DEFERRED SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS

 OWNER PRINCIPAL COMMENTS

Project: Edwards Blvd (approved June, 2010)
ZYUP 00194 Peller Investments LLC 233,340.44$  Deferred for 10 yrs or until developed

Spec Assmt was reduced by $80,963 from $314,303.44 to $233,340.44 from 
lawsuit settlement July, 2013.



Fisher & Phillips LLP
Atlanta • Baltimore • Bethesda • Boston • Charlotte • Chicago • Cleveland • Columbia • Columbus • Dallas • Denver • Detroit • Fort Lauderdale • Gulfport 

Houston • Irvine • Kansas City • Las Vegas • Los Angeles • Louisville • Memphis • Nashville • New Jersey • New Orleans • New York • Orlando • Philadelphia 
Phoenix • Pittsburgh • Portland • Sacramento • San Diego • San Francisco • Seattle • Tampa • Washington, DC

VIA E-MAIL

Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee 
City of Lake Geneva City Hall 
626 Geneva Street 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 
cityclerk@cityoflakegeneva.com  

Re: Peller Investments, LLC – Assessment Proposal 

Dear Committee Members: 

I represent Peller Investments, LLC (“Peller”) in connection with the above referenced 
proposal.  I hope you are doing well in this difficult time in our Country.  I bring before you the 
repayment schedule regarding the $233,304.44 special assessment related to certain 
improvements on Edwards Boulevard (the “Assessment”) issued by the City of Lake Geneva 
(“City”). It appears that Peller and the City have different interpretations of when the Assessment 
becomes due and Peller’s payment options. Peller seeks to reach an agreement with the City on 
a mutually beneficial payment schedule for the Assessment that will provide the City with 
additional cash payments sooner than it would otherwise be entitled to receive them. Indeed, 
Peller’s proposals would accelerate the City’s reimbursement of the full value of the Assessment 
by up to eight years. 

Background  

On or about September 29, 2010, Peller and the City entered into an Assessment 
Agreement in relation to certain improvements to North Edwards Boulevard that provided access 
to Peller’s property. See Assessment Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  

The Agreement provided that “when the City has completed the North Edwards Boulevard 
Improvements …, the City shall assess [Peller] for its share of the Improvements.” Ex. 1, § 4.01. 
The payment of the Assessment was deferred pursuant to Wis. Stats. Sec. 66.0715(2) and not 
due until “the earlier of i) 10 years after the date of assessment;1 or ii) issuance of an Occupancy 
Permit for some or all of the Property, as detailed below (the “Due Date”). The Agreement further 
provided Peller with the right to “elect on the Due Date to pay the Assessment in installments 

1 The date of the Assessment is the date the Improvements were completed on North Edwards Boulevard in 2011.  

Chicago 
10 South Wacker Drive 
Suite 3450 
Chicago, IL  60606 

(312) 346-8061 Tel 
(312) 346-3179 Fax 

September 10, 2020 

Writer's Direct Dial: 
312.346.8061 

Writer's E-mail: 
sfanning@fisherphillips.com



Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee 
September 10, 2020 
Page 2 

equivalent to the most recent installment payment schedule for any Special Assessment in the 
City.” Ex. 1, § 4.01. 

On October 25, 2010, prior to the completion of the Improvements, the City Council of Lake 
Geneva approved the estimated assessment amount against Peller. However, the final 
Assessment amount of $233,304.44 was not determined until April 3, 2013, based on the 
judgment entered Walworth County Circuit Court in Case No. 2011-CV-00030.  See 10/29/2013 
Letter from Dan Draper, attached hereto as Exhibit 2. While our firm was not involved in the 
litigation, it is our understanding that the matter settled amicably pursuant to a written settlement 
agreement. 

Additionally, since 2010, Peller believed that the Assessment would not be due until the 
property was sold or an occupancy permit was issued. This was, in part, due to Sr. Project 
Engineer, Kurt Davidsen’s testimony that “the City would typically defer payment until the property 
was either improved [an occupancy permit issued] or sold.”  Peller Investments, LLC v. Lake 
Geneva, 2012AP10002, ¶ 9 (Jan. 31, 2013), attached hereto as Ex. 3. Peller had relied on this 
statement and others and did not plan for or anticipate the entire Assessment being due in 2020. 

On June 4, 2020, Peller’s counsel reached out to the City Attorney Dan Draper to obtain 
clarity on the due date of the payment and to fully cooperate with the City. On August 4, 2020, 
the City Attorney informed Peller that the Assessment was due on October 25, 2020 – ten years 
after the date of the Resolution and not the completion of the project. 

For the reasons set forth above, Peller was surprised by the City’s position. Due to the 
unanticipated timing of the Assessment payment and the financial uncertainties caused by the 
COVID-19 Pandemic, Peller is unable to pay the Assessment in full in October and does not 
believe that it is required to do so.   

Pellers’ Position 

As stated above, it was Peller’s belief and understanding that the Assessment would not 
be due until the property was sold or an occupancy permit was issued. Nevertheless, even if 
Peller accepts the City’s position regarding the timing of the Assessment, it is our view based on 
a fair reading of the documents that the Assessment would not be due until April 3, 2023, ten 
years after the date the Assessment was finalized. At that time, on April 3, 2023, Peller would be 
entitled to elect to pay the Assessment “in installments equivalent to the most recent installment 
payment schedule for any Special Assessment in the City.” Ex. 1, § 4.01. Based on 
representations from the City Attorney, the most recent Special Assessment payment schedule 
is a 10-year plan at a 5% annual interest rate.  

Pellers’ Proposed Resolution 

While Peller is confident in its position, Peller is open to reaching a mutually beneficial 
resolution with the City to avoid any further expense and uncertainty. Peller believes that the 
below proposal will significantly benefit the City because it will result in accelerated cash 
payments to the City. Rather than wait until 2033 to receive the full Assessment, the City will be 
fully reimbursed for the Assessment by 2025. 



Finance, Licensing, and Regulation Committee 
September 10, 2020 
Page 3 

As such, Peller respectfully proposes that it pay the Assessment pursuant to a 5-year 
installment plan (the first installment being due later this year) with an annual interest rate on the 
unpaid principal of 2%.  

If you have any questions regarding the proposal, please let me know. Thank you for your 
thoughtful consideration of this important matter. 

Very truly yours, 

Scott C. Fanning 
Attorney 
For FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP 

SCF:fs 
Attachments 

cc: Dan Draper (via e-mail)





EXHIBIT 1



























EXHIBIT 2





EXHIBIT 3



 
COURT OF APPEALS 

DECISION 
DATED AND FILED 

 

January 31, 2013 
 

Diane M. Fremgen 
Clerk of Court of Appeals 

 

  
NOTICE 

 

 This opinion is subject to further editing.  If 
published, the official version will appear in 
the bound volume of the Official Reports.   
 
A party may file with the Supreme Court a 
petition to review an adverse decision by the 
Court of Appeals.  See WIS. STAT. § 808.10 
and RULE 809.62.   
 
 

 

 
Appeal No.   2012AP1002 Cir. Ct. No.  2011CV30 

STATE OF WISCONSIN  IN COURT OF APPEALS 
 DISTRICT II 
  
  
PELLER INVESTMENTS, LLC, 
 
          PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT, 
 
     V. 
 
CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, 
 
          DEFENDANT-APPELLANT. 
 
  

 

 APPEAL from a judgment of the circuit court for Walworth County:  

JAMES L. CARLSON, Judge.  Reversed and modified in part, affirmed as 

modified, and cause remanded with directions.   

 Before Lundsten, P.J., Sherman and Kloppenburg, JJ.  

¶1 KLOPPENBURG, J.   This case arises out of a special assessment 

levied by the City of Lake Geneva against Peller Investments, LLC for a road-

improvement project pursuant to the City’s police power.  Peller challenged the 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

2 

special assessment, arguing it was unreasonable as a matter of law.  The circuit 

court granted summary judgment in favor of Peller and denied the City’s motion 

for summary judgment.  We conclude that the City’s disparate treatment of 

similarly-situated properties was unreasonable.  We also conclude, however, that 

the City reasonably allocated excess funds received from a property owner 

pursuant to a development agreement.  As to that matter, we reverse the circuit 

court and modify the judgment accordingly.  Therefore, we reverse and modify in 

part, affirm the judgment as modified, and remand to the circuit court to enter 

judgment consistent with our modification.  

BACKGROUND 

¶2 The special assessment at issue involves a project on Edwards 

Boulevard, which runs north and south in the City of Lake Geneva, with its 

northern-most point intersecting Sheridan Springs Road and its southern-most 

point intersecting State Highway 50 (Main Street).  Prior to 2010, Edwards 

Boulevard was not a through street to Sheridan Springs Road.  Rather, it ended at 

the northern edge of a property on which a Target store is located.  In 2010, the 

City undertook a road-improvement project to extend Edwards Boulevard to 

Sheridan Springs Road.  The project also included the construction of a bridge, 

storm sewers, water mains, sewer mains, stormwater detention ponds, a sidewalk, 

and a bike path.   

¶3 The Peller property is located to the north of the Target property and 

has frontage on Edwards Boulevard as extended.  The Peller property was 

originally 16.63 acres in size.  On May 3, 2010, Peller executed a quit-claim deed 

to the City for a 3.61-acre portion of the Peller property.  The City had planned to 

place a detention pond via a stormwater easement on the 3.61-acre parcel, as a 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

3 

necessary component to the project.  Peller deeded the parcel to the City in lieu of 

condemnation.  The parties refer to the 3.61-acre parcel as the “ trapezoid parcel”  

and Peller’s remaining 13.02 acres as “ the Peller property.”   We will refer to the 

properties in the same manner.   

¶4 On September 27, 2010, pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 66.0703 (2011-

12),1 the City’s Common Council adopted Resolution No. 10-R56, a preliminary 

resolution directing the City’s engineer to prepare a report consisting of plans, 

specifications and costs for the improvements, a schedule of the proposed 

assessments, and the properties to be benefited (and therefore assessed).  The 

engineering firm Crispell-Snyder, Inc., served as the City’s engineer.   

¶5 Kurt Davidsen, an engineer for Crispell-Snyder, drafted a 

preliminary assessment report, in which he calculated the proposed assessments 

using the straight-line method.  Under the straight-line method, Davidsen 

calculated assessments based on the length of each property running parallel to 

Edwards Boulevard.  The preliminary assessment report listed the Peller property 

as a benefited, assessable property, and assessed the Peller property for 916.52 

lineal feet running parallel to Edwards Boulevard, at a rate of $377.36 per foot.  

Had the preliminary assessment report become final, the Peller property 

assessment would have been $345,857.99.  The preliminary assessment report 

estimated the total cost of the project to be $2,629,981.50.  

¶6 After receiving the preliminary assessment report, the City’s Public 

Works Director, Dan Winkler, and the City Administrator, Dennis Jordan, 

                                                 
1  All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2011-12 version unless otherwise 

noted. 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

4 

reviewed the report and consulted with Sue Barker, another engineer with 

Crispell-Snyder, regarding the method used and the costs included.  Winkler and 

Jordan believed that the straight-line method inadequately reflected the relative 

benefits received by the properties.  Specifically, Winkler and Jordan believed that 

the Peller property received a “unique special benefit”  because it was the only 

property that became developable as a result of the project.2   

¶7 Pursuant to these discussions, the City asked Crispell-Snyder to draft 

a second report applying an alternative assessment method referred to as the right-

of-way method (also known as front-foot method or lineal-footage method).  

Unlike the straight-line method, which calculated assessable frontage based on the 

actual curb frontage of a property, the right-of-way method calculated the 

assessment based on the length of the road right-of-way abutting each property.  

The City’s personnel knew that the right-of-way method would result in a greater 

amount of the project cost being assessed to the Peller property.   

¶8 On October 25, 2010, the City’s Common Council held a public 

hearing on the proposed special assessment during its regular meeting.  After 

holding the hearing, the City adopted Resolution No. 10-R60, the final resolution 

declaring the City’s intent to exercise its special assessment powers.  The final 

resolution adopted and approved of the engineer’s second report employing the 

right-of-way method.   

                                                 
2  Peller disputes this fact, arguing that the Wight River Crossings, LLC property also 

benefited because it did not have any direct access to Edwards Boulevard before the extension 
project, and thus the project enhanced its developability.  Given our conclusion that the 
assessment was unreasonable due to its disparate treatment of similarly-situated properties, any 
factual disputes regarding Wight River’s developability are not material.  



No.  2012AP1002 

 

5 

¶9 In addition to the change in assessment method, the second report 

increased the cost of the project by $116,378.10, resulting in a total cost of 

$2,746,359.60.  The second report contained a schedule of eight properties 

benefited and therefore subject to assessment.  The schedule noted whether a 

property’s assessment amount was assessable, deferred, or exempt.  A deferred 

assessment meant that payment of the assessment was deferred while no use of the 

improvement was made in connection with the property.  See WIS. STAT. 

§ 66.0715(2)(a).  Kurt Davidsen opined at his deposition that the City would 

typically defer payment until the property was “either improved or sold.”   If a 

benefited property was exempt from a special assessment, the share of the 

assessment was not distributed among the remaining properties, but rather had to 

be computed and paid by the City.  See WIS. STAT. § 66.0703(1)(c).   

¶10 In the second report, the City issued a deferred assessment on the 

Peller property for 1,142.01 feet of right-of-way frontage, an increase of 225.49 

feet from the first report’s straight-line method.  When calculating the total 

assessable lineal feet of the Peller property (1,142.01 feet), the City measured 

Peller’s curb frontage on Edwards Boulevard (657.03 feet) plus the boundary line 

between the Peller property and the trapezoid parcel (484.98 feet).  The City 

treated its trapezoid parcel as part of the road right-of-way.  Thus, while the 

trapezoid parcel abuts Edwards Boulevard for a distance of 379.36 feet, the City 

considered the boundary between the Peller property and the trapezoid parcel to be 

the road right-of-way for purposes of calculating the Peller property’s lineal 

footage under the right-of-way method.  The Peller property is labeled as parcel 2 

on the map appended to this opinion.  The trapezoid parcel abuts Peller’s property 

at its northeast corner. 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

6 

¶11 The following presents a summary of the remaining seven assessed 

properties listed in the second report and the label assigned to each property on the 

appended map:   

• Parcel 1:  Ryan Companies US, Inc., owns the parcel on which the 

Target store was already located.  The City assessed this parcel for 

$20,509.50 (44.91 feet) and exempted $7,306.88 (16 feet).  Pursuant 

to a 2006 development agreement between Ryan Companies and the 

City, Ryan Companies paid the City $600,000.00 for the extension 

of Edwards Boulevard, which was Ryan Companies’  sole obligation 

with respect to “ the design, and the construction of the Edwards 

Extension, including, without limitation, any special assessment ....”   

The City used part of the $600,000.00 to cover the Ryan Companies’  

total assessment of $27,816.38 (the total of both its assessable and 

exempt amounts).  

• Parcel 3:  Wight River Crossings, LLC owns this parcel, which 

borders the Peller property to the north and west.  The City assessed 

the parcel for $248,598.32 (544.36 feet).  The City used part of the 

$600,000 paid by Ryan Companies to cover Wight River’s entire 

assessable amount.  Dennis Jordan testified in his affidavit dated 

December 12, 2011, that the City and Ryan Companies had an 

understanding at the time of their 2006 development agreement that 

“ the $600,000 would also be used to offset any special assessment of 

the Wight River property because Wight River had provided 

property for storm water management.”   



No.  2012AP1002 

 

7 

• Parcels 4 and 7:  The City owns these two parcels.  The City 

acquired the two parcels as a single parcel from We Energies in 

order to construct the Edwards Boulevard extension.  The extension 

of Edwards Boulevard to Sheridan Springs Road bisected the parcel, 

resulting in two separate properties now owned by the City.  The 

City placed a second stormwater detention pond on parcel 4, in 

addition to the stormwater detention pond located on the trapezoid 

parcel.  In the second report, the City assessed parcels 4 and 7 based 

on the amount of curb frontage each had abutting Edwards 

Boulevard.   

• Parcels 5 and 6:  These parcels are located on the north side of 

Sheridan Springs Road and are owned by Lake Geneva Investors, 

LLC.  The City exempted the parcels’  assessments of $211,351.50 

(462.80 feet) and $84,942.48 (186.00 feet), because, according to 

Sue Barker, “ there was already an existing road in front of them.”   

• Parcel 8:  U.S. Highway 12 comprises the entirety of this parcel and 

is owned by the Wisconsin Department of Transportation.  The City 

exempted the parcel’s assessment of $689,751.20 (1,510.36 feet) 

because, according to Kurt Davidsen, “State Highway 12 is not 

developable.”   After first applying a portion of the $600,000 

contribution to Ryan Companies and Wight River, the City used the 

remaining balance of $323,585.30 to offset the DOT’s exempt 

assessment.   

¶12 Following adoption of the final resolution, the City sent Peller a 

letter on October 28, 2010, notifying Peller that the City adopted the final 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

8 

resolution and providing Peller with an assessment installment notice.  The letter 

included the eight-property schedule, which reflected a proposed special 

assessment levy of $521,533.13 against the Peller property, based on a frontage of 

1,142.01 feet on Edwards Boulevard.   

 ¶13 Peller filed a complaint against the City pursuant to WIS. STAT. 

§ 66.0703(12)(a), which authorizes property owners to challenge special 

assessments in circuit court.  Both parties moved for summary judgment.  In its 

motion, Peller argued that the City’s special assessment method was unreasonable 

because:  (1) the City did not treat uniformly its parcel 4 and the trapezoid parcel, 

the two properties on which it placed detention ponds, because, unlike parcel 4, 

the City did not assess the road frontage of the trapezoid parcel, but rather treated 

it as part of the road right-of-way; and (2) the City’s use of the right-of-way 

method resulted in Peller paying a disproportionate share of the cost of the project.  

Peller also argued that the City unreasonably allocated a portion of the Ryan 

Companies’  $600,000 payment to cover part of the assessments for which the City 

was responsible, rather than using the funds to offset the total cost of the project.  

¶14 In contrast, the City in its summary judgment motion argued that the 

Peller property was the only property that became developable as a result of the 

Edwards Boulevard extension and because of “ the enormity of the unique benefit,”  

it imposed an assessment against Peller in proportion to the benefit accrued.  The 

City asserted that as a matter of law, the assessment was reasonable.   

¶15 On January 11, 2012, the circuit court held a hearing and orally 

granted Peller’s motion and denied the City’s.  Specifically, the court found 

unreasonable the City’ s disparate treatment of similarly-situated properties:  the 

City categorized the City-owned, former We Energies parcels (parcels 4 and 7) as 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

9 

lots, but categorized the City-owned trapezoid parcel (unnumbered parcel) as 

right-of-way, thereby “artificially and unreasonably [increasing] the Peller 

Property’s assessable frontage ….”   The court further found that the City 

unreasonably applied the balance of the $600,000 payment to the DOT’s exempt 

assessment amount.  The parties subsequently submitted an agreed-upon 

assessment calculation for Peller’s property and incorporated this assessment into 

a proposed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order for Judgment, which 

the circuit court signed on March 28, 2012.  The City now appeals.   

DISCUSSION 

¶16 We review a circuit court’s grant of summary judgment de novo.  

Umansky v. ABC Ins. Co., 2009 WI 82, ¶8, 319 Wis. 2d 622, 769 N.W.2d 1.  In 

other words, we review the grant of summary judgment independently, employing 

the same methodology as the circuit court.  See Green Spring Farms v. Kersten, 

136 Wis. 2d 304, 315, 401 N.W.2d 816 (1987).  Summary judgment is appropriate 

in cases in which there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party 

is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  WIS. STAT. § 802.08(2). 

¶17 Pursuant to statute, a municipality may, by resolution of its 

governing body, “ levy and collect special assessments upon property in a limited 

and determinable area for special benefits conferred upon the property by any 

municipal work or improvement ....”   WIS. STAT. § 66.0703(1)(a).  When a 

municipality imposes assessments by an exercise of its police power, the statute 

mandates the existence of two requirements:  “ that the property be benefited and 

that the assessment be made upon a reasonable basis.”   Peterson v. City of New 

Berlin, 154 Wis. 2d 365, 371, 453 N.W.2d 177 (Ct. App. 1990); see WIS. 

STAT. § 66.0703(1)(b).   



No.  2012AP1002 

 

10 

¶18 The parties do not dispute that the Edwards Boulevard extension 

project benefited all eight properties in the assessment district.  Thus, our focus is 

on the reasonableness of the assessment.  The police power of a municipality is 

broad and, in general, the courts may intercede only when the exercise of that 

power is clearly unreasonable.  CIT Group/Equip. Fin., Inc. v. Village of 

Germantown, 163 Wis. 2d 426, 433, 471 N.W.2d 610 (Ct. App. 1991).  Whether 

an assessment fulfills the legal standard of reasonableness is a question of law.  Id. 

at 434.   

¶19 There is no single formula or methodology for apportioning 

assessments.  Park Ave. Plaza v. City of Mequon, 2008 WI App 39, ¶27, 308 

Wis. 2d 439, 747 N.W.2d 703.  Generally speaking, an assessment is made upon a 

reasonable basis if it is “ ‘ fair and equitable’ ”  and “ ‘ in proportion to the benefits 

accruing.’ ”   Gelhaus & Brost, Inc. v. City of Medford, 144 Wis. 2d 48, 52, 423 

N.W.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1988) (quoting Berkvam v. City of Glendale, 79 Wis. 2d 

279, 287, 255 N.W.2d 521 (1977)).   

¶20 The law presumes that the municipality proceeded reasonably in 

making the assessment.  Lac La Belle Golf Club v. Village of Lac La Belle, 187 

Wis. 2d 274, 281, 522 N.W.2d 277 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing Peterson, 154 Wis. 2d 

at 371).  The challenger to the assessment bears the burden to establish prima facie 

evidence that the assessment was not reasonable.  Steinbach v. Green Lake 

Sanitary Dist., 2006 WI 63, ¶11, 291 Wis. 2d 11, 715 N.W.2d 195.  Once a 

challenger establishes such, the burden shifts to the municipality “ ‘ to show that the 

chosen assessment method comported with the statutory requirement that it’  

produce a reasonable assessment.”   Id. (quoting Lac La Belle, 187 Wis. 2d at 

281).   



No.  2012AP1002 

 

11 

¶21 The term “ reasonable basis”  as used in WIS. STAT. § 66.0703 is not 

statutorily defined.  Rather, “ [t]he facts of the particular situation must govern the 

determination of whether the assessment is made ‘upon a reasonable basis.’ ”   

Peterson, 154 Wis. 2d at 374.  The Wisconsin Supreme Court has observed that 

“ [t]he analysis for whether a special assessment is ‘ reasonable’  has been 

articulated in a number of ways, depending on the facts of the particular case.”   

Steinbach, 291 Wis. 2d 11, ¶20.   

¶22 For example, the facts in Peterson prompted articulation of the 

following rule:  “ [A]n assessment is unfair when property owners in comparable 

positions face a marked disparity in cost for the receipt of equal benefits when an 

alternate, more equitable, method of assessment is feasible.”   154 Wis. 2d at 373.  

In Peterson, a property owner challenged an assessment for water and sewer 

improvements calculated using the “ front foot”  method.  Id. at 369.  The 

assessment amounts varied in that some of the properties were “pie-shaped,”  

meaning that some properties had substantially more front-footage than others.  Id. 

at 368.  While the assessment utilized a uniform method and all properties in the 

assessment district were approximately the same size, properties with more front 

footage incurred a disproportionate share of the assessment compared to those 

properties with less front footage.  Id. at 368-69.  Concluding the assessment was 

unreasonable, the Peterson court explained that “not only must the exercise of the 

police power be reasonable; its result must be reasonable as well.”   Id. at 371 

(emphasis in original).   

¶23 More recently, Wisconsin appellate courts have addressed the 

question of reasonableness in terms of a two-part test:  first, the assessment must 

be uniform, in that it is fairly and equitably apportioned among property owners in 

comparable situations; and second, the assessment must not affect a unique 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

12 

property in a manner disproportionate to the benefit conferred.  See Park Ave. 

Plaza, 308 Wis. 2d 439, ¶¶29-31; Steinbach, 291 Wis. 2d 11, ¶23; Genrich v. City 

of Rice Lake, 2003 WI App 255, ¶¶20-22, 268 Wis. 2d 233, 673 N.W.2d 361; 

Lac La Belle, 187 Wis. 2d at 285-86.  

¶24 In Steinbach, the Wisconsin Supreme Court applied this two-part 

analysis to a challenge by eighteen condominium owners against an assessment 

financing a sanitary sewer system.  291 Wis. 2d 11, ¶2.  The sanitary district had 

levied charges against each tax parcel of record receiving sewer service in the 

assessment district.  Id., ¶5.  The assessment costs included the installation of one 

four-inch pipe stub to the sewer main of each property lot.  Id.  Because each 

condominium unit in the challengers’  building was a separate tax parcel, each unit 

owner was assessed a full “availability charge,”  even though the single lot on 

which all of the condominiums stood was provided with only one four-inch stub.  

Id.  The Wisconsin Supreme Court observed that “other lots that [had] multiple 

habitable units and were provided access to the sewer main through one four-inch 

stub to the lot were charged only one availability charge.  Yet the Petitioners’  lot 

was assessed an availability charge 18 times higher for the same, single four-inch 

stub.”   Id., ¶26.  Thus, the Steinbach court determined that the petitioners had 

provided prima facie evidence that the assessment was not levied uniformly, 

because the condominiums were not treated the same as comparable property with 

multiple habitable units.  Id.  With this evidence shifting the burden to the district 

to demonstrate reasonableness, the court found that the district failed to show that 

the disparate treatment was fair or equitable, “except to assert it applied the same 

method of assessment to everyone.”   Id., ¶27.  The court noted that “as part of the 

District’s method of assessment, it created a definition for the term, ‘ lot,’  that 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

13 

caused the method of assessment to have dissimilar effects on the properties 

within the District.”   Id. 

¶25 We now apply these legal principles to the present case, recognizing 

again that “ [t]he facts of the particular situation must govern the determination of 

whether the assessment is made ‘upon a reasonable basis.’ ”   Peterson, 154 

Wis. 2d at 374.  Because the law presumes that the City proceeded reasonably in 

making the assessment, our first task is to determine whether Peller has provided 

prima facie evidence that the assessment was not reasonable.   

¶26 Peller’s first reasonableness challenge concerns whether the right-of-

way method treated comparable properties uniformly.  Specifically, Peller asserts 

that the City treated parcel 4 (one of the parcels it acquired from We Energies and 

on which it constructed a stormwater detention pond) as an assessable lot, but did 

not treat the similarly-situated trapezoid parcel as an assessable lot.  Rather, the 

City characterized the trapezoid parcel (which the City acquired from Peller and 

on which it constructed a stormwater detention pond) as part of the road right-of-

way, thereby increasing the frontage assessable to the Peller property.   

¶27 Uniformity is required among comparable properties.  See Park Ave. 

Plaza, 308 Wis. 2d 439, ¶30.  It is true that the right-of-way method, in theory, is 

uniform because it calculates assessments based on length of the road right-of-way 

abutting each property.  However, it is not the general method used but rather the 

particular application of that method here in which the City defined road right-of-

way that resulted in disparate treatment of similarly-situated properties.  Parcel 4 

and the trapezoid parcel were characterized in different manners, yet both 

properties contained stormwater detention ponds and both abutted Edwards 

Boulevard.  By characterizing the trapezoid parcel as right-of-way and parcel 4 as 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

14 

an assessable lot, the City did not treat comparable properties uniformly and 

shifted the cost of the trapezoid parcel’s curb frontage to Peller.  This disparate 

treatment was unreasonable.   

¶28 Because Peller has produced prima facie evidence that the 

assessment was not reasonable, the burden shifts to the City to show that the 

chosen method produced a reasonable assessment.  See Steinbach, 291 Wis. 2d 

11, ¶11.  The City argues that under the right-of-way method, all properties were 

treated the same:  the assessments were all based on the amount of lineal feet 

abutting the Edwards Boulevard right-of-way.  However, this does not explain the 

City’s disparate treatment with regard to the characterization of the trapezoid 

parcel as right-of-way and parcel 4 as a lot.  The City offers the distinction that the 

pond on the trapezoid parcel abutted private property and the pond on parcel 4 did 

not, and therefore, “ [t]here was no reason to make the We Energies detention pond 

part of the right-of-way.”   This distinction is inaccurate, because the only 

difference was the amount of land separating the ponds from neighboring private 

property, and the City does not explain why this difference should matter.  

Moreover, the City fails to explain why it did not characterize the trapezoid parcel 

as an independent lot.  Thus, we conclude that the City has not met its burden to 

show the chosen method produced a reasonable assessment.   

¶29 We note that the City posits that Peller had “no right to challenge the 

fairness of [the assessment method with respect to parcel 4 and the trapezoid 

parcel] assessments on their behalf.”   However, regardless whether Peller could 

challenge the fairness of the assessments of other properties on behalf of the 

owners of those properties, that is not what Peller did here.  Peller’s argument is 

directed at the effect that this disparate treatment had on the Peller property 

assessment.  While Peller’s argument might affect the assessment of these other 



No.  2012AP1002 

 

15 

properties, that is an unavoidable consequence of Peller’s proper argument about 

the effect of the treatment of the other parcels on the Peller parcel assessment. 

¶30 Because the assessment failed the uniformity prong of the analysis, 

we need not continue to the second uniqueness prong.3  Furthermore, because we 

agree with Peller’s argument on this topic, we need not address Peller’s alternative 

argument that the method used was improper because it resulted in Peller paying a 

disproportionate share of the cost of the project.    

¶31 Finally, we must address Peller’s assertion that it was also 

unreasonable for the City to allocate the balance of the Ryan Companies’  

$600,000 payment to the exempt DOT parcel (parcel 8) rather than use the funds 

to offset the total cost of the project for all affected properties.  So far as we can 

tell from the briefing before us, it is true that the City could have opted to reduce 

the total cost of the project with the remaining balance.  At the same time, it is not 

apparent why the City could not do what it did do, that is, apply the remainder to 

assessment amounts for which the City was responsible.  Nothing in the 

development agreement with Ryan Companies required the City to apply the 

remainder in any particular way.  And, Peller does not cite any legal authority that 

would obligate the City to allocate the funds in a particular way.  Therefore, Peller 

                                                 
3  In apparent reference to this prong, the City asserts that the end result of the assessment 

method was more than fair to Peller because the Peller property was the primary beneficiary of 
the road extension and the City “could have assessed the Peller property for all of the cost of the 
Edwards Boulevard construction.”   We understand the City to be arguing that the Peller property 
was unique and that the assessment was more than proportionate to the benefit conferred.  Some 
facts in the record and common sense suggest that this may be true, but as we have already 
concluded, the method that the City used to calculate the assessment of the Peller property failed 
the first prong of the test.  Moreover, the City does not provide legal authority for its proposition 
that it could have assessed Peller the total cost of the project involving eight benefited parcels.  
Therefore, we discuss the matter no further.   



No.  2012AP1002 

 

16 

did not meet its burden in establishing that the City’s allocation of the Ryan 

Companies’  $600,000 payment was unreasonable.  See Steinbach, 291 Wis. 2d 11, 

¶11 (“ the challenger [to the assessment] bears the burden of going forward to 

establish prima facie evidence that the assessment was not reasonable” ).   

CONCLUSION 

¶32 In sum, we affirm that part of the circuit court’s grant of summary 

judgment to Peller Investments, LLC which finds that the City did not treat 

comparable properties uniformly and that the special assessment against Peller’s 

property was unreasonable.  We reverse that part of the circuit court’s judgment 

which finds that the City unreasonably allocated the balance of the $600,000 

contribution from Ryan Companies, and modify the judgment, after restoring the 

City’s original allocation of the $600,000 payment, as follows (using uncontested 

numbers in the circuit court’s judgment).  The total cost of the project was 

$2,746,359.60.  The project involved a total of 5,741.05 lineal feet in the special 

assessment district.  Dividing the $2,746,359.60 project cost by 5,741.05 lineal 

feet provides an assessment rate of $478.37 per lineal foot.  The Peller property 

had 657.03 lineal feet of assessable frontage.  Multiplying Peller’s 657.03 lineal 

feet of assessable frontage by the assessment rate of $478.37 per foot, the special 

assessment levy against the Peller property shall be $314,303.44. 

¶33 Our directions on remand are that the circuit court enter judgment 

consistent with this modification.  

 By the Court.—Judgment reversed and modified in part, affirmed as 

modified, and cause remanded with directions.  

 Not recommended for publication in the official reports.  



No.  2012AP1002 

 

17 

 

 

 













































































 

1 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Working Together for a Better Community 

 

 

Shared Services Agreement 
Executive Overview 

 
 
 

Lake Geneva Fire Department, Town of Linn Fire Department,  
and Town of Lyons Fire Department have engaged in  

researching the feasibility of Shared Services. 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

2 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

 
 
 

PREFACE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

This report is the result of numerous meetings with Chief Fire Officers from the Lake 
Geneva Fire Department, Town of Linn Fire Department, and Town of Lyons Fire 
Department.  All of these departments have provided accurate and current data to 
illustrate the best possible results of a proposed shared services model as found within 
this report.   

The results of this report will be utilized by administrators, board members, and citizen 
groups to better understand the possible benefits of the three departments sharing 
services resulting in an increased service delivery model to all.  The group would like to 
thank everyone that assisted in facilitating this report and our community leaders for 
their consideration in moving forward with this shared services model.   

 

 

Authors: 

Fire Chief John Peters, Lake Geneva Fire Department 

Fire Chief Pete Jones, Town Of Linn Fire Department 

Fire Chief Neal Lara, Town Of Lyons Fire Department 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

3 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY………………………………………………………4 
II. INTRODUCTION…………………………………………………………………5 

Project Overview………….……………………………………………….……..5 

Department Characteristics..………………………………………………..5 

III. OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW………………………………………………….6 

General Geographic and Demographic Information………………6 

Current Service Area……………………………………………………………..7 

Response Information…………………………………………………………..8 

EMS Billing/Collection Rates………………………………………………….8 

Current Resources…………………………………………………………………9 

Proposed Service Map…………………………………………………………..11 

 

IV. OPERATIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS…………………………………12 

Recommendations………………………………………………………………..12 

Timeline………………………………………………………………………………..13 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 



 

4 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Lake Geneva Fire Department, Town of Linn Fire Department, and Town of Lyons Fire 
Department have shared services for many years.  Mutual Aid, MABAS responses, combined 
trainings, and shared policies are just a few examples of this collaboration.  Over the past few 
months, Chief Officers from all three departments have been meeting to discuss ways to better 
utilize our resources and improve protection to our communities and the areas we serve.  

Lake Geneva currently provides both fire and EMS at the Paramedic level.  Lake Geneva’s 
response area consists of the City of Lake Geneva, and contracted portions of the Town of 
Geneva.   

Linn provides fire and EMS services to the Advanced EMT level.  Linn is responsible for service 
to the Town of Linn.   

Lyons provides fire and EMS services to the Advanced EMT level.  Lyons is responsible for 
service to the Town of Lyons, and portions of the Towns of Spring Prairie and La Fayette.   

All three departments are current members of the Mutual Aid Box Alarm System (MABAS).   

This report focuses on enhancing the departments’ ability to work together and increases 
shared services that will occur within the existing departments’ administrative and operational 
frameworks.  This report illustrates that this process can be achieved utilizing the following 
model: 

• An Operational model, which creates a unified operations framework under which the 
“closest unit” of the three departments would respond regardless of municipal 
boundaries.  However, each of these three departments will remain separate entities 
with independent personnel, administration, vehicles, and governance.   

The fiscal and operational analysis associated with this model suggests potential for improving 
service response times and efficiency of fire and EMS response, potential for increased 
recruitment and retention of personnel, and potential financial savings.  

The following are additional findings from this analysis of this model being utilized in 
southcentral and southeastern Rock County: 

• Increase in fire protection to the service areas 
• Increase the service areas to a paramedic level of service 
• Allows for EMS billing to the appropriate level 
• Potential increase in EMS revenue 
• Potential decrease in EMS billing expenses 
• Increase in recruitment and retention of members 

The report concludes that there is a substantial benefit to all three departments in pursuing a 
shared services agreement.  The increase in service to the communities involved with little to 
no increased financial investment will allow all three communities the ability to better serve 
their residents.   
 



 

5 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

2. INTRODUCTION 
Project Overview  

The communities served by Lake Geneva, Town of Linn, and Town of Lyons Fire Departments 
are all primarily rural communities with some urban area.  The three departments would like to 
move forward with a Shared Services model of both fire and EMS services.   This model will 
enhance our established response plans by allowing for a single, area-wide, department with 
“closest unit” responding to emergencies.  This would provide the most rapid and efficient 
service to all communities.  

The goal of this project is to improve service while reducing or containing costs, both now and 
into the future, through the following possible outcomes: 

• Creating one all-encompassing emergency response department providing fire 
protections, rescue services, and EMS services.   

• Provide Paramedic level service to the entire response area 
• Allow current and future licensed EMS providers the ability to work at their current level 

of certification (EX: Currently Town of Linn and Lyons Fire Department are licensed as an 
AEMT service and have Paramedic members that can only work at the AEMT level). 

• Increase recruitment and retention of Fire and EMS personnel for the entire area 
through the use of shared personnel.  

• Allow for combined Fire Prevention programs to assist with public education and fire 
inspection duties.   

• Potential savings in EMS billing utilizing economies of scale.  
 

Department Characteristics 
Lake Geneva Fire Department 

• The Lake Geneva Fire Department is a combination fire department consisting of Paid-
on-Premise and Paid-on-Call staff.    

• The station is staffed with a three person crew 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and 
365 days a year. Additionally additional staff are available as scheduled for 
administrative and Fire Prevention Bureau duties.     

• Lake Geneva Fire Department operates a Paramedic EMS system with three 
ambulances.  

In addition to the Fire Department, the City of Lake Geneva has its own Sewer Utility, Police 
Department, Communications Center (PSAP) and Department of Public Works.  The City of Lake 
Geneva has seen a recent increase in commercial property, single family homes, and multi-unit 
developments.  City of Lake Geneva supplies service to the entire city of Lake Geneva and areas 
of the Town of Geneva.   
 
 
 



 

6 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

Town of Linn Fire Department  
The Town of Linn Fire Department consists of Paid-on-Call staff and operates an Advanced EMT 
EMS system with one ambulances.  

The majority of the Geneva lakeshore is within the Town of Linn and their jurisdiction lies on 
the north and south side of the lake.   

Town of Lyons Fire Department  
The Town of Lyons Fire Department consists of Paid-on-Call staff.   The Town of Lyons Fire 
Department operates an Advanced EMT EMS system with one ambulances. 

The Grand Geneva Resort and Spa is within the Town of Lyons. 
 

3. OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW 

General Geographic and Demographic Information 

The Lake Geneva, Town of Linn, and Town of Lyons Fire Departments comprise approximately 
75 square miles in southcentral to southeastern Walworth County.  The three departments will 
protect a total estimated population of 14,000 residents within the combined response area.   

Table 1 shows the geographic and demographic breakdown of each department’s current 
response area.  The Lake Geneva, Town of Linn, and Town of Lyons Fire Departments have 
many areas of adjoining borders and many roads and thoroughfares which make access to the 
entire response area practical and safe.  Town of Linn shares its northern border with Lake 
Geneva’s southern border, Lake Geneva shares its eastern border with Town of Lyons’ western 
border, and Town of Linn and Town of Lyons share no mutual borders.  All areas have excellent 
main roads joining the communities or direct access to these roads to enhance the response 
between departments.  (Highways 36, 120, 50, and US Hwy 12) 

 
Table 1 

 Lake 
Geneva 

Town of Linn Town of Lyons Total 

Area (Sq. miles) 6.55 mi² 28.7 mi²(land) 
5.1 mi² (water) 

34.7 mi² 75.05 mi² 

Population 7,875(2017) 2,401 (2017) 3,722 (2017) 13,998 (2017) 
 

Fire Inspections (total /year) 2,555 195 686 3,436 

 

With the elimination of borders and the reassignment of response to the closest unit, there will 
be no increase in response times to any portion of this combined response area, many areas 
will see a decrease in initial unit response time and a larger area will see a decrease in 
secondary vehicle response times.   



 

7 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

Current Service Areas 

Map 1 
Lake Geneva 

 

Map 2 
Linn 

 

Map 3 
Lyons 

 



 

8 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

 
Fire & EMS Response Information 

The consolidated fire and EMS area would be responsible for emergency response to an 
estimated 2,263 calls per year.   Currently 1,369 of these responses are EMS in nature and 894 
are fire responses.  Table 2 shows the current breakdown of calls by department.  Fire runs, on 
the table, represent fire calls, rescue/EMS assistance, and mutual aid/MABAS calls.  EMS runs 
are calls in which an ambulance responded for service.   

Table 2 

 Lake 
Geneva 

Town of 
Linn 

Town of 
Lyons 

Totals 

EMS Runs (2018) 905 142 322 1,369 

Fire Runs (2018) 
 

648 172 74 894 

Total Runs (2018) 1,553 314 396 2,263 

 
 
The departments should see a minimal increase in fire responses after implementation, due to 
the current agreements in place which will still require the same equipment to respond to the 
same types of emergencies.   The group will not see a substantial increase in EMS runs caused, 
but will see a change in were those runs are allocated.  Linn’s runs per year will be divided 
between Linn and Lake Geneva (based on closest unit).  Lyon’s runs per year will be divided 
between Lyon’s and Lake Geneva (based on closest unit).   

Lake Geneva will see an increase in responses for paramedic level service in both Linn and 
Lyons.   

 
EMS Billing/Collection Rates 

This agreement would call for a standard fee structure providing everyone in the consolidated 
area “resident” status.  Consideration will be made to contract with a single billing service to 
decrease the percentage of revenue lost through charges.  An increase in revenue will be seen 
with the 1,369 EMS runs in the consolidated response area.  Additionally, there are 
opportunities to split billing with added paramedic response ability.   

 
Table 3 shows current collection rates and billing percentages for each department.  Billing is 
completed by the transporting agency.   
 



 

9 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

Table 3 Lake Geneva Town of 
Linn 

Town of 
Lyons 

Billing Company Charge (%) 7.6 $2,000.00  
BLS Resident $700.00 $400.00 $500.00 
BLS Non-Resident $700.00 $500.00 $500.00 
ALS 1 Resident $918.89 $500.00 $700.00 
ALS 1 Non-Resident $918.89 $600.00 $700.00 
ALS 2 Resident $1010.47 $600.00 $1,000.00 
ALS 2 Non-Resident $1010.47 $650.00 $1,000.00 
Mileage (per mile) $20.00 $10.00 $10.00 
Response Fee (non-
transport) Resident 

$150.00 $200.00 $0.00 

Response Fee (non-
transport) Non-Resident 

$200.00 $250.00 $0.00 

• Note- there may be other charges in the fee schedule (i.e. medications and procedures) 
not listed above 

 
Current Resources 

The combined group would have 115 personnel, 71 of them with EMS training.   

Table 4 represents the current staffing and level of certification for members of all 
departments.  

Table 4 Lake 
Geneva 

Town of 
Linn 

Town of 
Lyons 

Totals 

Total Personnel 45 29 41 115 
Fire Only 6 12 22 40 
First Responders 0 6 2 8 
Fire/EMT-Basic 14 3 3 20 
EMT-Basic 0 3 4 7 
FF/AEMT 7 3 8 18 
FF/Paramedic 17 1 0 18 
Drivers/Auxiliary 0 1 0 1 
Probationary/No 
Training 

1 0 2 3 

 
The current equipment list for all departments is found in Table 5.  Each department has a full 
complement of equipment that adequately protects their respective community.  During time 
of need, the MABAS system allows the departments to augment their staffing and equipment 
as the emergency requires.  The group would operate out of 4 stations that are geographically 
located across the 75 mile service area.   
 



 

10 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

Table 5 Lake 
Geneva 

Town of Linn Town of 
Lyons 

Total 

Stations 2 1 1 4 
Engines 2 2 2 6 
Ladder/Truck 1 0 0 1 
Tender 0 3 2 4 
Ambulance(Basic/AEMT) 0 1 1 2 
Ambulance Paramedic 3 0 0 3 
Squad (extrication) 1 1 0 2 
Chief/Command Car 2 1 0 3 
Staff Vehicles 2 0 0 2 
Brush Truck 1 1 1 3 
Utility 1 1 1 3 
UTV w/Fire Skid 0 0 1 1 
UTV w/EMS Skid 1 0 1 2 
ATV 0 0 0 0 
Snow Machine 0 0 0 0 
Light Trailer 0 0 0 0 
Boat 1 2 0 3 
Rehab 0 0 0 0 
MCI Trailer 1 0 0 1 
Cascade Air 1 0 1 2 

 
 
Map 4 shows the proposed service area.  The locations of these fire stations are existing and 
permits personnel to respond to the closest fire station to pick up necessary equipment.  
Departments could move equipment for repair or maintenance coverage.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

11 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

Proposed Service Map  
Map 4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

12 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

4. OPERATIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendation 

This report’s recommendation is a Shared Services agreement between the Lake Geneva, Town 
of Linn, and Town of Lyons.  Each department will maintain their current administrative, legal, 
and budgetary status, but function under an closest unit responds model to all fire or EMS calls 
regardless of municipal boundaries.   

This model would operationally enhance the current MABAS concept in that individual 
departments would not simply receive assistance during high activity.  This change would allow 
instant coverage for times of low personnel availability, multiple calls, equipment down time 
for repair or maintenance, and other times of need.  

In addition, the departments would endeavor to work under one EMS operational plan allowing 
for an increase in service to the entire community.  Additionally, this system would allow all 
approved members to work at the levels they are trained within the entire service area.  This 
will bring the entire area to a paramedic level system and increase the number of EMT basics 
and AEMT’s through the use of shared personnel.   

Training would become more standardized with common drill plans and schedules.  All three 
departments currently have training officers who could combine their efforts to become a 
much stronger program. 

Fire prevention programs in the service area would receive inspection and prevention 
assistance from additional qualified personnel.  These areas are critical in keeping 2% dues 
coming to the department and allow for a safer and more prepared community overall.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

13 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

 
Timeline 

1. Complete Report And Review By All Fire Chiefs   

Meeting Date __________ 

2. Prepare Report For Administrative Boards 

First Review_________ 

3. Request Approval To Move Forward With Plan 

Approvals By ________ 

4. Address EMS Operational Plan – 

Plan To State By _________ 

5. Set Response Areas 

Completed By __________ 

6. Discuss Staffing And Cross Staffing Possibilities 

  Staffing Completed By _________ 

7. Discuss SOP And Training  

On Going  

8. Discuss Scheduling 

On Going 

9. Implementation  

Planned Start ___________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

14 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

 This agreement is a work product of mutual respect and coordination between 
departments, the ultimate goal being to provide the closest, most appropriate response to 
citizens in our respective communities, regardless of jurisdictional boundaries. 
 

This INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is entered into this___ day of 
_________of ___, 202_ by and between the City of Lake Geneva, Town of Linn, and Town of 
Lyons.  

Definitions:  

1. Automatic Aid means the automatic dispatch of aid by the Responding Party to a specific alarm 
type in the jurisdiction of the other Party.  

 

Operational Expectations 

1. Dual  Response   Area  -  Geographic  Limits.  
 
This Agreement applies to all Incidents requiring a Fire Department Response 
received by the Walworth County PSAP or Lake Geneva PSAP for addresses or 
occupancies within the Town of Linn , City of Lake Geneva, Town of Lyons and more 
specifically for addresses located within the boundaries defined by: 

 

Town of Linn (ESN 758 & 759)   
City of Lake Geneva (ESN 157) 
Contracted area of the Town of Geneva (ESN 773) 
Town of Lyons (ESN 771) 
Contracted area of the Town of Spring Prairie (ESN 771) 

Note: For purposes of this Agreement, the boundary will include both sides of the 
road way and any property contiguous to either side of the roadway. The area 
covered by this Agreement includes the contracted portions of the Town of Geneva. 

2. Situations Where Aid is provided.  
Each department will develop still/local and dual response areas, and identify the 
response and apparatus requested.  
 
This automatic aid Agreement shall be in effect 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 
Include appendix with still maps 
 

3. Communications and Dispatch 
To accomplish this, the PSAP’s shall dispatch the City of Lake Geneva, Town of Linn 
and Town of Lyons Fire Departments. 
 
 



 

15 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

4. Reimbursement for Costs.  
No party in this Agreement shall be required to reimburse any other party for the 
cost of providing the services set forth in the Dual Response and/or Automatic Aid 
sections of this Agreement. Each party shall pay its own costs for responding to the 
Emergency Incidents as described is said sections of this Agreement. 
 
Each department is encourage to evaluate their direct and true cost of of this 
agreement annually to ensure their cost effiency and fiscal responsibility.  

 

RESPONSE, PERSONNEL, AND EQUIPMENT 

The Town of Linn, City of Lake Geneva and Town of Lyons Fire Chiefs shall establish a 
response plans regarding the deployment of personnel and equipment in responding to 
Emergency Incidents under this Agreement.  
 
In virtually all cases, responses will be consistent with the established Mutual Aid Box 
Alarm System (MABAS) Division 103 response cards. Any other required personnel and/or 
equipment will be determined by the Incident Commander in his or her sole discretion. If 
first arriving responders determine that they can handle the incident with their own 
available resources, then they shall return the still responding units. 

 
OTHER SHARED SERVICES 

This agreement recognizes that the Town of Linn , City of Lake Geneva and Town of Lyons 
Fire Departments are actively working on other areas of shared services, which includes 
but is not limited to the potential for joint staffing, a shared station, equipment sharing, 
community risk analysis, standard operating guidelines, training, administration, and fire 
prevention and education. 

 
LIABILITY/INDEMNIFICATION 

Each party waives all claims against the other party for compensation for any property loss 
or damage, and/or personal injury or death occurring as a consequence of the performance 
of this Agreement. Each party shall bear the liability and/or cost of damage to its 
equipment and the death of, or injury to, its personnel, whether the death, injury or damage 
occurs at an emergency within the described boundary.  

Provided, however, nothing contained herein shall diminish the immunity or limitations of 
liability of a party granted to it by law. 

 
 



 

16 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

 
TERM 

The term of this Agreement shall commence on the 1st day of January 2021, and shall be for 
a term of three (3) years to expire December 31, 2023. Provided, that on or before 
September 1st of each year of the term of this agreement, any party may opt out by delivery 
of notification in writing to all parties of the intent to so opt out of this agreement. In the 
event, such written notice is timely delivered, the opt out shall become effective as of 
December 31st, of the year in which the notice is delivered.    

 
RENEGOTIATIONS 

The terms of this agreement shall not change from agreement to agreement, without first 
notifying all parties in writing of any proposed change.  

 
PRIOR AGREEMENTS 

This Agreement supersedes any other previous Agreements, either written or verbal, that 
may have existed to define the response of the all fire departments in this agreement. 

 
Additions and Modifications 

Additions (Including other Departments) or modifications may be made to this agreement 
with a written attachment agreed on by all signed parties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 



 

17 
Rev: 9/8/2020 

 
 
Town of Linn, Wisconsin 

By: _________________ 

Fire Chief 

 

City of Lake Geneva, Wisconsin 

By: _________________ PFC:_________________ Mayor:____________ 

Fire Chief 

 
 
Town of Lyons, Wisconsin 

By: _________________ 

Fire Chief 





















 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
Resolution authorizing the issuance of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) filed by Cory Englebert d.b.a. 
EPTC LLC., 1500 Avenue of Champions to utilize the property located at 801 Geneva Pkwy. for a 
Physical Activity Studio land use in the Planned Business Park (PBP) zoning district. Tax Key No. 
ZLGB00003. 
 

 
Committee: 

 
Plan Commission approved September 21, 2020 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 20-R65 Date: September 28, 2020 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has considered the application of, Cory Englebert d.b.a. EPTC LLC., 
1500 Avenue of Champions to utilize the property located at 801 Geneva Pkwy. for a Physical Activity 
Studio land use in the Planned Business Park (PBP) zoning district. 

 WHEREAS, The City Plan Commission held a Public Hearing thereon pursuant to proper notice 
given on September 10, 2020. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Zoning Administrator be, and is hereby 
authorized, to issue a Conditional Use Permit to Cory Englebert d.b.a. EPTC LLC., 1500 Avenue of 
Champions to utilize the property located at 801 Geneva Pkwy. for a Physical Activity Studio land use in the 
Planned Business Park (PBP) zoning district,  

Tax Key No. ZLGB00003 
 

to include all affirmative findings of fact and note staff recommendations. 
 
 Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 28th day of September 
2020. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
  
Charlene Klein, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 



STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date: September 21, 2020 

 

 

 

  

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description: 

The applicant is submitting a proposal for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) that will allow for an 

Indoor Commercial Entertainment land use for the property located at 801 Geneva Pkwy which 

will allow for Sports Performance Training located in the Planned Business Park (PBP) zoning 

district Tax Key No. ZLGBP00003. 

 

Project Details from CUP Submittal 

The proposed project submittal meets or exceeds all requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Conditional Use Permit (CUP): 

As part of the consideration of the requested CUP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed Limited 

CUP; 

 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for CUPs; and, 

 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the CUP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A proposed CUP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the 

appropriate fact finding would be all of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed limited conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

Applicant: 

Cory Englebert 

d.b.a. EPTC LLC. 

1500 Avenue of Champions 

Lake Geneva 

Agenda Item: 7 

Request: Conditional Use Permit 

801 Geneva Parkway 

Indoor Commercial Entertainment land use in 

the Planned Business Park (PBP)  

Tax Key No. ZLGBP00003 

 



and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required 

site plan does not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the 

character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public 

improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public 

health, safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be 

developed as a result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, 

the Comprehensive Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under 

consideration pursuant to official notice by the City or other governmental agency 

having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed conditional use maintains the desired consistency of land uses, land use 

intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed conditional use is located in an area that will be adequately served by, and 

will not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services 

provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use outweigh all potential 

adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the 

Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate 

such impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the 

appropriate fact finding would be one or more of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, 

goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning 

Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration 

pursuant to official notice by the City. 

c. The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required 

site plan does result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the 

character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public 

improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public 

health, safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be 

developed as a result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, 

the Comprehensive Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under 

consideration pursuant to official notice by the City or other governmental agency 

having jurisdiction to guide development. 



d. The proposed conditional use does not maintain the desired consistency of land uses, 

land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject 

property. 

e. The proposed conditional use is not located in an area that will be adequately served by, 

and will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or 

services provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use do not outweigh all 

potential adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration 

the Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to 

ameliorate such impacts. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed 

conditional use as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided 

above. 

 

 

 

 

 





























 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
Resolution authorizing the issuance of a General Development Plan (GDP) filed by Thomas Keefe, 
d.b.a. Northern Waters LLC., 752 Geneva Pkwy. for a request to utilize the property located at 816 
Wisconsin Street as a Bed & Breakfast land use in the Neighborhood Business (NB) zoning district. 
Tax Key No. ZOP00164. 
 

 
Committee: 

 
Plan Commission approved September 21, 2020 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 20-R66 Date: September 28, 2020 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has considered the application of, Thomas Keefe, d.b.a. Northern 
Waters LLC., 752 Geneva Pkwy. for a request to utilize the property located at 816 as a Bed & Breakfast 
land use in the Neighborhood Business (NB) zoning district. Tax Key No. ZOP00164. 

 WHEREAS, The City Plan Commission held a Public Hearing thereon pursuant to proper notice 
given on September 10, 2020. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Zoning Administrator be, and is hereby 
authorized, to issue the General Development Plan to Thomas Keefe, d.b.a. Northern Waters LLC., 752 
Geneva Pkwy. for a request to utilize the property located at 816 as a Bed & Breakfast land use in the 
Neighborhood Business (NB) zoning district.  

Tax Key No. ZOP00164 
 

to include all affirmative findings of fact and note staff recommendations. 
 
 Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 28th day of September, 
2020. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
  
Charlene Klein, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 



STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date: September 21, 2020 

 

 

 

  

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description: 

The applicant is submitting a proposal for a General Development Plan (CUP) that will allow for 

a Bed & Breakfast land use for the property located at 816 Wisconsin St., located in the 

Neighborhood Business (NB) zoning district. 

 

Project Details from CUP Submittal 

The proposed project submittal will need exceptions of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed General Development Plan (GDP): 

As part of the consideration of the requested GDP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed GDP; 

 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for GDP’s; and, 

 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the GDP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A proposed GDP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the 

appropriate fact finding would be all of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed GDP use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 

other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City. 

Applicant: 

Thomas Keefe 

d.b.a. Northern Waters LLC. 

752 Geneva Parkway 

Lake Geneva 

Agenda Item: 9 

Request: 

816 Wisconsin St. 

General Development Plan 

Bed & Breakfast in the Neighborhood 

Business (NB)  

Tax Key No. ZOP00164 

 



b. Specific to this site, the proposed GDP use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

c. The proposed GDP use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

does not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character 

of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public 

improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public 

health, safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be 

developed as a result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, 

the Comprehensive Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under 

consideration pursuant to official notice by the City or other governmental agency 

having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed GDP use maintains the desired consistency of land uses, land use 

intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed GDP use is located in an area that will be adequately served by, and will 

not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services 

provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed GDP use outweigh all potential adverse 

impacts of the proposed GDP use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 

proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 

impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the 

appropriate fact finding would be one or more of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed GDP use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 

other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed GDP use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

c. The proposed GDP use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 

does result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of 

the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, 

public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or 

general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a 

result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the 

Comprehensive Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under 

consideration pursuant to official notice by the City or other governmental agency 

having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed GDP use does not maintain the desired consistency of land uses, land use 

intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 



e. The proposed GDP use is not located in an area that will be adequately served by, and 

will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services 

provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed GDP use do not outweigh all potential 

adverse impacts of the proposed GDP use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 

proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 

impacts. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed General Development Plan: 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed 

conditional use as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided 

above. 

 

 

 

 

 













































 

RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by McMurr II, LLC. 
351 Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL 60654. for a request to construct 23 Single Family Homes to the 
property located at Summerhaven Subdivision Phase III. located in the Planned Development (PD) 
zoning district. Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00002 & ZA75400001. 
 

 
Committee: 

 
Plan Commission approved September 21, 2020 

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

File Number: 20-R67 Date: September 28, 2020 
 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission has considered the application of, McMurr II, LLC. 351 Hubbard, 
Suite 610, Chicago, IL 60654.  For a request to construct 23 Single Family Homes to the property located at 
Summerhaven Subdivision Phase III. Located in the Planned Development (PD) zoning district, Tax Key 
Nos. ZSUM00002 & ZA75400001. 

 WHEREAS, The City Plan Commission held a Public Hearing thereon pursuant to proper notice 
given on September 10, 2020. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Zoning Administrator be, and is hereby 
authorized, to construct 23 Single Family Homes to the property located at Summerhaven Subdivision Phase 
III. Located in the Planned Development (PD) zoning district.  

Tax Key Nos. ZSUM00002 & ZA7540001 
 

to include all affirmative findings of fact and note staff recommendations. 
 
 Granted by action of the Common Council of the City of Lake Geneva this 28th day of September, 
2020. 
 
 
Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote       

 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 

 
 
  
Charlene Klein, Mayor Date 
 
Attest: 
 

  _______________________________________________________ 
Lana Kropf, City Clerk                                    Date 



STAFF REPORT 

To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date: September 21, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Description: 

The applicant is submitting a proposal for the Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) request that will 

allow for the development of Phase III and the construction of 23 single family residences 

located in the Planned Development (PD) zoning district. 

 

Project Details from (PIP) Submittal 

The proposed project submittal meets or exceeds all requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 

As part of the consideration of the requested PIP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

 Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed PIP; 

 Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for PIPs; and, 

 Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the PIP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A proposed PIP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the 

appropriate fact finding would be all of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed PIP is in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, policies 

and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 

program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 

City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed PIP is in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 

Applicant: 

Dan Mclean 

d.b.a. McMurr III LLC. 

351 W. Hubbard Suite 610 

Chicago IL 60654 

Agenda Item: 8 

Request: 

Summerhaven Subdivision Phase III 

Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) 

Planned Development (PD) 

Tax Key No. ZSUM00002 



other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City. 

c. The proposed PIP in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan does 

not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of 

the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, 

public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or 

general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a 

result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the 

Comprehensive Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under 

consideration pursuant to official notice by the City or other governmental agency 

having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed PIP maintains the desired consistency of land uses, land use intensities, 

and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed PIP is located in an area that will be adequately served by, and will not 

impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided 

by public agencies serving the subject property. 

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed PIP outweigh all potential adverse impacts 

of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s proposal 

and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the 

appropriate fact finding would be one or more of the following: 

a. In general, the proposed PIP is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 

policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 

other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 

notice by the City. 

b. Specific to this site, the proposed PIP is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, 

objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 

and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to 

official notice by the City. 

c. The proposed PIP in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan does 

result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 

neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, 

public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or 

general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a 

result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the 

Comprehensive Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under 

consideration pursuant to official notice by the City or other governmental agency 

having jurisdiction to guide development. 

d. The proposed PIP does not maintain the desired consistency of land uses, land use 

intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

e. The proposed PIP is not located in an area that will be adequately served by, and will 

impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services 

provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 



f. The potential public benefits of the proposed PIP do not outweigh all potential adverse 

impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 

proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 

impacts. 

 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed PIP as 

submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided 

above. 

 

 

 

 

 



APPLICATION FOR PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN OR AMENDMENT 
City of Lake Geneva 

Site Address/Parcel No. and full Legal Description required (attach separate sheet if necessary): 

Name and Address of Current Owner: 

Telephone No. with area code & Email of Current Owner: ______________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Name and Address of Applicant: 

Telephone No. with area code & Email of Applicant: __________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Proposed Use:  _________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Zoning District in which land is located: __________________________________________________

Names and Addresses of architect, professional engineer and contractor of project: 

Short statement describing activities to take place on site: 

PIP fee $400.00, payable upon filing application. 

___________________      ____________________________________ 

Date   Signature of Applicant 

Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II - Phase III - See attached Narrative Exhibit A incorporated herein.

McMurr II, LLC, 351 W. Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL 60654, Attn: Murray S. Peretz

        312-527-3600 X 1;
dem@mclcompanies.com 

Same as Owner.

  See attached Summerhaven Phase III - Narrative to PIP Application incorporated
herein. 

Planned Development - General Development Plan

FARRIS, HANSEN & ASSOCIATES, INC., 7 Ridgway Court, Elkhorn, WI 53121

See Narrative.

October             , 2019.

McMurr II, LLC

By:
- Murray S. Peretz,
Its Manager

12/5/2019



APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
PD STEP 4: PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 

Prior to submitting the 20 complete applications as certified by the Zoning Administrator, the 
Applicant shall submit 5 initial draft application packets for staff review, followed by one revised draft 
final application packet based upon staff review and comments. 

Initial Packet (5 Copies to Zoning Administrator) Date: ________ by: _____ 

 Draft Final Packet (1 Copy to Zoning Administrator) Date: ________ by: _____ 


____ ____ A. After the effective date of the rezoning to PD/GDP, the Applicant may file an 

application for the proposed PIP with the Plan Commission.  This submittal 
packet shall contain the following items, prior to its acceptance by the Zoning 
Administrator and placing the item on the Plan Commission agenda for PIP 
review. 

____ (1) A location map of the subject property and its vicinity at 11" x 17", as 
depicted on a copy of the City of Lake Geneva Land Use Plan Map; 

____ (2) A map of the subject property for which the PD is proposed: 
____ Showing all lands within 300 feet of the boundaries of the 

subject property; 
____ Referenced to a list of the names and addresses of the owners of 

all lands on said map as the same appear on the current records 
of the Register of Deeds of Walworth County (as provided by 
the City of Lake Geneva); 

____ Clearly indicating the current zoning of the subject property and 
its environs, and the jurisdiction(s) which maintains that 
control;  

____ Map and all its parts clearly reproducible with a photocopier; 
____ Map size of 11" by 17" and map scale not less than one inch 

equals 800 feet; 
____ All lot dimensions of the subject property provided; 
____ Graphic scale and north arrow provided. 

____ (3) A general written description of proposed PIP including: 
____ Specific project themes and images; 
____ The specific mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses; 
____ Specific residential densities and non-residential intensities as 

described by dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio and 
impervious surface area ratio; 

____ The specific treatment of natural features; 
____ The specific relationship to nearby properties and public streets. 
____ A Statement of Rationale as to why PD zoning is proposed 

identifying perceived barriers in the form of requirements of 
standard zoning districts and opportunities for community 
betterment through the proposed PD zoning. 

____ A complete list of zoning standards which will not be met by the 
proposed PIP and the location(s) in which they apply and a 
complete list of zoning standards which will be more than met 
by the proposed PIP and the location(s) in which they apply 
shall be identified.  Essentially, the purpose of this listing shall 



be to provide the Plan Commission with information necessary 
to determine the relative merits of the project in regard to 
private benefit versus public benefit, and in regard to the 
mitigation of potential adverse impacts created by design 
flexibility. 

 
  ____ (4) A Precise Implementation Plan Drawing at a minimum scale of 

1"=100' (and reduced to 11" x 17") of the proposed project showing at 
least the following information in sufficient detail: (See following page) 

    ____ A PIP site plan conforming to all requirements of Section 98-
908(3). If the proposed PD is a group development (per 
Section 98-208) also provide a proposed preliminary plat or 
conceptual plat; 

    ____ Location of recreational and open space areas and facilities 
specifically describing those that are to be reserved or 
dedicated for public acquisition and use; 

    ____ Statistical data on minimum lot sizes in the development, the 
precise areas of all development lots and pads, 
density/intensity of various parts of the development, floor 
area ratio, impervious surface area ratio and landscape surface 
area ratio of various land uses, expected staging, and any other 
plans required by the Plan Commission or City Council; and 

    ____ Notations relating the written information (3), above to specific 
areas on the GDP Drawing. 

   
  ____ (5) A Property Site Plan drawing which includes: 
    ____ A title block which indicates the name, address and phone/fax 
      number(s) of the current property owner and/or agent(s)  
     (developer, architect, engineer, planner) for project; 
    ____ The date of the original plan and the latest date of revision to the  
    plan; 
    ____ A north arrow and a graphic scale (not smaller than one inch  
      equals 100 feet); 
    ____ A reduction of the drawing at 11" x 17"; 
    ____ A legal description of the subject property; 
    ____ All property lines and existing and proposed right-of-way lines  
      with bearings and dimensions clearly labeled; 
    ____ All existing and proposed easement lines and dimensions with a  
      key provided and explained on the margins of the plan as to  
      ownership and purpose; 
    ____ All required building setback lines; 
    ____ All existing and proposed buildings, structures, and paved areas,  
      including building entrances, walks, drives, decks, patios,  
      fences, utility poles, drainage facilities, and walls; 
    ____ The location and dimension (cross-section and entry throat) of  
      all access points onto public streets; 
    ____ The location and dimension of all on-site parking (and off-site  
      parking provisions if they are to be employed), including a  
      summary of the number of parking stalls provided versus  
      required by the Ordinance; 
     
 



    ____ The location and dimension of all loading and service areas on  
      the subject property and labels indicating the dimension of  
      such areas; 
    ____ The location of all outdoor storage areas and the design of all  
      screening devices; 
    ____ The location, type, height, size and lighting of all signage on the  
      subject property to include a photometric plan; 
    ____ The location, height, design/type, illumination power and  
      orientation of all exterior lighting on the subject property –  
      including the clear demonstration of compliance with  
      Section 98-707; 
    ____ All engineering requirements for utilities, site designs, etc; 
    ____ The location and type of any permanently protected green space  
      areas; 
    ____ The location of existing and proposed drainage facilities for  
      storm water; 
    ____ In the legend, data for the subject property on: 
      ____ Lot Area; 
      ____ Floor Area; 
      ____ Floor Area Ratio (b/a); 
      ____ Impervious Surface Area; 
      ____ Impervious Surface Ratio (d/a); 
      ____ Building Height. 
 
  ____ (6) A landscaping plan for subject property, specifying the location, species, 

and installed size of all trees and shrubs.  Include a chart which 
provides a cumulative total for each species, type and required location 
(foundation, yard, street, paved area or bufferyard) of all trees and 
shrubs. 

 
  ____ (7) A series of building elevations for the entire exterior of all buildings in 

the PD, including detailed notes as to the materials and colors 
proposed. 

 
  ____ (8) A general signage plan including all project identification signs, concepts 

for public fixtures and signs (such as street light fixtures and/or poles 
or street sign faces and/or poles), and group development signage 
themes which are proposed to vary from City standards or common 
practices. 

 
  ____ (9) A general outline of the intended organizational structure for a 

property owners association, if any; deed restrictions and provisions 
for private provision of common services, if any. 

 
  ____ (10) A written description which demonstrates the full consistency of the 

proposed PIP with the approved GDP. 
 
  ____ (11) A written description of any and all variations between the requirements 

of the applicable PD/GDP zoning district and the proposed PIP 
development; and, 

 



  ____ (12) Proof of financing capability pertaining to construction and 
maintenance and operation of public works elements of the proposed 
development. 

 
 
FINAL APPLICATION PACKET INFORMATION 
PD STEP 4: PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 
 
The process for review and approval of the PD shall be identical to that for conditional use permits 
per Section 98-905 of the Zoning Ordinance and (if land is to be divided) to that for preliminary and 
final plats of subdivision per the Municipal Code.  All portions of an approved PD/PIP not fully 
developed within five years of final City Council approval shall expire, and no additional PD-based 
development shall be permitted.  The City Council may extend this five years period by up to five 
additional years via a majority vote following a public hearing. 
 
____ Receipt of 5 full scale copies in blueline or blackline 
 of complete Final Application Packet by Zoning Administrator: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Receipt of 20 reduced (8.5" by 11" text and 11" x 17" graphics) 
 copies of complete Final Application Packet by Zoning Administrator: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____   A digital copy of Final Application Packet shall be emailed to the  
 Building and Zoning Department upon submittal deadline.        Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Certification of complete Final Application Packet and 
              required copies to the Zoning Administrator by City Clerk: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Class 2 Legal Notice sent to official newspaper by City Clerk: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Class 2 Legal Notice published on _______________ and _______________ by: _____ 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Development Review Committee (DRC) Application 
 

Complete as much detailed information as possible to allow for a comprehensive departmental review 
prior to a Development Review Committee meeting. This application must be returned to the Building 
Inspector, with all conceptual plans, designs and other information prior to the scheduling a DRC 
meeting. 

 
 
Applicant Information 
 
Property Address ______________________________________________________________________ 
Applicant name ________________________________________________________________________ 
Applicant email __________________________________________  Phone Number ________________ 
 
Architect/Contractor/Designer Name ______________________________________________________ 
Architect/Contractor/Designer Email _____________________________Phone Number _____________ 
 
Type of Construction:  New _______    Addition _______   Remodel _______ 
Type of Development:  Single-family ______  Multi-family _____    Commercial ______    Industrial _____ 
Type of Business _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Engineering  

 

Site Plans should include the following:  Project title and owner’s/developer’s name and address noted, 

architect’s and/or engineer’s name and address noted, property boundaries and dimensions, abutting 

property zoning classifications, general description of building materials, façade and roof detail, setback 

lines indicated, easements for access, if any, 100-year floodplain identification, existing and proposed 

topography shown at a contour interval of one foot, indicating proposed grade and location of 

improvements, signage and outdoor lighting, number of parking spaces provided, type, size and location 

of all structures with all building dimensions shown, location of existing and general location of 

proposed sanitary sewers, storm sewers, water-mains, and any proposed stormwater management 

facilities, location, extent and type of proposed landscaping and landscaping plantings and buffers to 

adjacent property, including fencing or other screening, location of pedestrian sidewalks and walkways, 

graphic outline of any development staging that is planned, driveway locations and sizes, handicap 

accessibility, environmental concerns (odor, smoke, noise, graphic scale and north arrow. 

 

 Storm water management provisions provided? YES / NO 
o As-built/certification notification 

 Erosion control plan provided? YES / NO 

 Wetlands, floodplains, environmental corridors, groundwater Identified.  YES / NO 

 Utility Plans Provided 
o Watermain 
o Sanitary Sewer 
o Storm Water 

 Is a Land Division required?  YES / NO  

 Access points and dimensions shown? YES /  NO 

o WISDOT Right-of-way? 

o County Right-of-way? 

 

 



 Estimated Traffic impacts__________________________________________________________ 

o Traffic Study Required YES/NO 

o Traffic Control Plan Required YES/NO 

o Will construction affect street parking or intersections? YES / NO 

 Paving Materials, Typical Sections?  YES / NO 

 WDNR Notice of Intent required? (Land disturbance more than 1 acre)?   YES  /  NO  

 Watermain extension required?   YES  /  NO 

 Sanitary sewer extension required?  YES / NO 

 SEWRPC Service Area Amendment needed?  YES / NO 

 Is a Chapter 30 Permit (wetland/waterway) required?  YES / NO 

 Proposed building/expansion dimensions ____________________________________________ 

 Will there be signage?  YES / NO  type (mounted, freestanding) ___________________________ 

 Exterior lighting plans? YES / NO  

 What kind of noise or level of noise will the business have? ______________________________ 

 Detailed property Site Plan?   YES / NO    Date of Plan: ____________________________ 

 Green Space Calculations (Existing vs. Proposed) YES / NO 

 Are landscape plans provided?  YES / NO 

 Is a Land Division required?  YES / NO  
 

 
Water/Sewer Utilities  
 
If an existing structure please circle the following:  

 Will existing sewer & water connections be used?  YES  /  NO 

 Will your project require the installation of a grease interceptor?  YES  /  NO 

 

If the development is Commercial or Industrial, please provide the following: 

 Water service size requirement_____________________________________________________ 

 Estimated daily water usage in gallons per day_________________________________________ 

 Estimated maximum water flow in gallons per minute___________________________________ 

 Number of bathrooms____________________________________________________________ 

 Brief description of process (if Industrial)_____________________________________________ 

 

If the development is a multi-family dwelling, please provide the following: 

 Number of units____________________ 

 Number of bedrooms in each unit_________________ 

 Water service size requirement___________________ 

 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMERHAVEN 
OF  

LAKE GENEVA PHASE III 
 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT –  
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN  

Applicant: McMurr II, LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company 

 
May 8, 2020  



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 2 
 

SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III 
PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

NARRATIVE 
 
 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN INTRODUCTION: 
 
  McMurr II, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (“McMurr II”), is the 
Successor Declarant of the Summerhaven development (“Summerhaven”), and the owner of all 
the lands composing the third phase of Summerhaven, more particularly described in the attached 
Exhibit A incorporated herein (sometimes, “Phase III,” or “Site”).  McMurr II has promoted 
considerable single-family construction in Summerhaven, by clearing it of piles of broken asphalt, 
restoring the capacity of the storm water management ponds, altering the storm water drainage to 
prevent the flooding of neighboring property, paving a private drive to Lake Geneva Boulevard 
for emergency vehicles, and selling most of its units in the first phase of Summerhaven, 
approximately 8.04 acres (“Phase I”).  McMurr II has rezoned the second phase of Summerhaven, 
approximately 1.75 acres (“Phase II”), as PD, Planned Development Zoning District – Precise 
Implementation Plan, and platted it with four site condominium units, designating Phase III as 
expansion area for up to 23 additional site condominium units, and has rezoned Phase III to PD, 
Planned Development Zoning District – General Development Plan.  Both Phase II and Phase III 
use the TR-6, Two-family Zoning District, as the base district. 
 
  Phase I is under condominium ownership, subject to the Declaration of 
Condominium and the Plat of Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva Condominium, as 
amended by recorded amendments and addenda thereto (collectively, “Summerhaven of Lake 
Geneva Condominium”).  McMurr II has installed and repaired the incomplete public and private 
infrastructure for the balance of Phase I, agreed to repair a sanitary sewer service lateral partially 
obstructing the sanitary sewer main in Phase I and to seal 17 unused sanitary sewer service laterals 
that access such sanitary sewer main, constructed the pool promised by the original developer of 
Summerhaven, as well as a pool house, and installed the final lift of asphalt for the Phase I private 
streets. 
 
  The public infrastructure (e.g., municipal water and sanitary sewer mains) and the 
private infrastructure (e.g., storm water management system, force main sewer, private streets, and 
public utilities) for Summerhaven have been designed and installed with sufficient capacity to 
accommodate not only the 37 units originally approved for Phase I, now reduced to 28 dwelling 
units, but also to accommodate an additional 47 units originally approved for Phase II and Phase 
III, now reduced to not more than a total of 27 single-family units in the two phases.    
 
  To restore the original vision for Summerhaven, to broaden the base of financial 
support for Summerhaven’s extensive private infrastructure, including, without limitation, the 
streets, the storm water management facilities, the pool and the pool house, and to provide quality 
infill development, McMurr II proposes this PD, Planned Development Zoning District - Precise 
Implementation Plan, for Phase III (“PIP”).   
 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 3 
 

  The ten-year period during which Phase II and Phase III could be added to the 
Summerhaven of Lake Geneva Condominium as expansion units under the Wisconsin 
Condominium Ownership Act has expired. 
 
  Phase II is under condominium ownership, pursuant to a recorded Declaration of 
Condominium and Plat of Condominium of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II, consisting of four 
(4) platted single-family site condominium units in Phase II, with Phase III designated as 
Expansion Area for up to 23 additional single-family site condominium units.  Contemporaneously 
with this PIP application, McMurr II has filed with the City an Application for Land Division 
Review for a First Amendment to Declaration of Condominium for Phase III to the recorded 
declaration (“First Amendment to Declaration”) and an Addendum No. 1 to Plat of Condominium 
to the recorded plat (“Addendum No. 1”) to add and plat the expansion area Phase III units and an 
adjacent 66-foot-wide private drive to serve as part of the access for Phase III to Lake Geneva 
Boulevard.    
 
    McMurr II, through Summerhaven II Condominium Owners Association, Inc., 
has entered into a Cross-Easement & Cost-Sharing Agreement with Summerhaven Condominium 
Owners Association, Inc., recorded in the office of the Walworth County Register of Deeds on 
November 14, 2019, as Document Number 998242 (“Easement Agreement”), to share the use of 
and the cost to maintain, repair and replace the private streets, the storm water management 
facilities, the pool and pool house, and other common amenities and private infrastructure used by 
both condominiums.   
 
  All storm water from the western portion of Phase III, including from the cul-de-
sac at the west terminus of Evan Drive, will drain into the drainage basins near the west boundary 
of Phase III and from them into the large shared drainage basin in Phase I.  No storm water from 
Phase III will drain onto properties to the north or west of the western portion of Phase III.   
 
  With respect to storm water from Phase I, it is McMurr’s understanding that the 
storm water management system was designed by the former City Engineer and that the grading 
within Phase I, particularly along its western boundary, has been done in accordance with the 
grading plan for Phase I and the subsequent grading plan for each unit of Phase I approved by the 
City.   
 
  The properties surrounding Phase III are zoned PB, Planned Business Zoning 
District, principally along Wells Street, and PD-PIP (i.e., Phase I and Phase II), to the north and 
east; MR-8, Multi-family Residential-8 Zoning District, to the west; and SR-4, Single-family 
Residential-4 Zoning District, to the south.  The single-family use and the proposed density should 
fit well with the neighboring properties.  
 
    

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN REQUIREMENTS: 
 
1. Location Map:  See the Location Map, showing the location of Phase III on the City’s Land 
Use Plan Map, attached as Exhibit B and incorporated herein. 
 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 4 
 

2. Map of Site with Zoning and Names and Addresses of Owners within 300 feet of the Site:  
See Group Exhibit C incorporated herein. 
 
3. General written description of the proposed PIP: 
a. Specific project themes and images:  A Site Plan of Phase II and Phase III is attached as 
Exhibit D and incorporated herein.  Sample elevations and floor plans for one-story residences 
for Phase III are attached as Group Exhibit E and incorporated herein.  Two-story residences may 
be used, as well, for Phase III.  The Final Engineering Plans for Phase III are attached as Group 
Exhibit F and incorporated herein.  Sanitary sewer laterals and water services as depicted on 
Exhibit F may be relocated on units to avoid driveways on such units.  The landscaping, signage, 
lighting, organizational structure, and consistency of the GDP and the PIP for Phase III will be 
substantially similar to those of Phase I and Phase II, to make an integrated community. 
b. Specific mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses:  Only single-family residences are 
proposed for Phase III. 
c. Specific residential densities: (i) Dwelling units per gross acre: Phase III, approximately 4.7 
units/acre; (ii) floor area ratio: 22.6%; (iii) impervious surface area ratio: 40%. 
d. Specific treatment of natural features:  Phase III includes detention ponds that will serve not 
only Phase III improvements, but the Phase I improvements, as well.  Open space in Phase III will 
be treated much as open space is treated in Phase I and Phase II.  
e. Specific relationship to nearby properties and public streets:  Access to Phase III will be 
through the existing Summerhaven Drive from Lake Geneva Boulevard and Evan Drive, a private 
drive to be constructed  from Lake Geneva Boulevard at its eastern terminus, intersecting the south 
terminus of Summerhaven Drive, and ending in a cul-de-sac at the western end of Phase III, in 
part extending over an existing 66 foot-wide private drive intersecting with Lake Geneva 
Boulevard owned by McMurr II, pursuant to an easement granted by McMurr to the unit owners 
of Summerhaven under the First Amendment to Declaration and the Easement Agreement.  The 
Evan Drive access has been used as emergency access for Phase I under the original PD.  The 
single-family residences of Phase III will relate well to the Phase I and Phase II development. 
f. Statement of Rationale - why PD zoning proposed:  McMurr II requests PD zoning to obtain 
flexibilities from land use and bulk regulations for Phase III, the most significant of which have 
been granted in Phase I and Phase II, modified in part by a First Amendment to the General 
Development Plan for Phase III filed concurrently by McMurr II with this application (“First 
Amendment to GDP”), to promote uniformity of development with Phase I and Phase II, and to 
accommodate the number of single-family units sufficient to support the private infrastructure of 
Summerhaven, which has been planned for more multi-family units under the original PD.  Despite 
the flexibilities sought under the requested PD zoning, permitted density in Phase III’s underlying 
base district zoning of Two-Family Residential District (TR-6) is up to six dwelling units per acre, 
while Phase III is approximately 4.7 dwelling units per acre. 
g. Complete list of zoning standards not met by proposed PD and location(s) in which they 
apply, and complete list of zoning standards more than met by the proposed PD and 
location(s) in which they apply:  
 McMurr II reiterates the following flexibilities from bulk regulations for Phase III, 
which have been granted under the approved General Development Plan for Phase II and 
Phase III or proposed under the First Amendment to GDP: 

i. Easements for the private streets of 50 feet in width (Ordinance: minimum 66- foot 
width); 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 5 
 

ii. Cul-de-sac length of 720 feet (Ordinance maximum: 400 feet) – N/A - applies to 
Phase II only; 

iii. Minimum front and rear eave width of 6 inches for side of gables (Ordinance: 18 
inches); 

iv. Side of front porch to side of adjacent front porch of 12 feet, minimum side yard of 
5 feet to 10 feet for proposed unit 6 along boundary with common element, and 5 
feet for proposed unit 5 along boundary with common element; side of front porch 
to side of adjacent front porch of 12 feet, minimum side yard of 6 feet under the 
GDP (Ordinance: minimum dwelling unit separation of 12 feet, minimum side yard 
of 6 feet); 

v. Units in Phase III will range in size from approximately 4,222 square feet to 
approximately 11,638 square feet, to accommodate single-family dwellings in place 
of the duplex structures permitted under the TR-6, Two-family Zoning District.  By 
comparison, some units in Phase I are below 7,000 square feet in size. (Ordinance: 
9,000 square foot minimum);  

vi. Minimum Landscape Surface Ratio (LSR): 45% (Ordinance: 50%); 
vii. Maximum Building Coverage: 45% (Ordinance: 40%); 
viii. Minimum Lot Width: 50 feet (Ordinance: 75 feet); 
ix. Total of Both Sides, Lot Lines to House/Garage: 12 feet (Ordinance: 15 feet);  
x. Rear Lot Line to House or Garage: for proposed units 16, 17, 18, 19, and 20, 10 

feet, for proposed units 14 and 15, 0 feet (modified rear yards of all proposed units 
abut Phase I drainage basin common element), for proposed unit 6, 5 feet to 14 
feet; reduced from 15 feet under the GDP (Ordinance: 30 feet); and 

xi. Front or Street Lot Line to House: for proposed units 5, 6, and 7, 0 feet for portions 
of such units; for all other proposed units, 17 feet (Ordinance: 25 feet). 

 
 Phase III will meet the following bulk regulations: 
   Residential Density and Intensity Requirements: Conventional Development 

i Maximum Gross Density (MGD): 6 dwelling units/acre - Phase III totals 
approximately 4.7 dwelling units per acre. 

 ii. Maximum Accessory Building Coverage: 10% 
 iii. Residential Bulk Requirements: 
   1.  Minimum Street Frontage: 50 feet 
   2.  Minimum Setbacks:  

Front or Street Lot Line to House: as modified under (xi) 
above 
Front or Street Lot Line to Garage: as modified under (xi) 
above  
Side Lot Line to House or Garage: as modified under (iv) 
above 
Side Lot Line to Accessory Structure: three feet from 
property line  
Rear Lot Line to Accessory Structure: as modified under (x) 
above 
Minimum Paved Surface Setback: as modified under (iv), (x) 
and (xi) above  



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 6 
 

Minimum Dwelling Unit Separation: 12 feet   
Maximum Height of Dwelling Unit: 35 feet  
Maximum Height of Accessory Structure: 15 feet  
Minimum Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces Required 
on the Lot (Includes garage, drives, and all designated 
parking surfaces): 3  
Minimum Dwelling Core Dimensions: 24 feet by 40 feet  
Minimum Roof Pitch: 3 : 12  

3.  Residential Landscaping Requirements: Not applicable for single-family. 
 
4. Precise Implementation Plan Drawing showing at least the following information: 

1. a. PIP Site Plan conforming to §98-908(3).  See attached Exhibit G incorporated herein 
and McMurr II’s proposed First Amendment to Declaration and Addendum No. 1 
submitted concurrently.    
b. Location of public recreational and open space areas and facilities.  None on Site.  
All amenities, including the pool and pool house in Phase I, are intended for the use of 
Summerhaven residents and their guests.  The unit owners of Phase I have rejected 
McMurr II’s offer to construct a small children’s playground facility in the common 
elements containing the pool and pool house.  As an alternative, McMurr II proposes a 
paved pedestrian and bicycle path across a 33 foot-wide strip of property in Phase III 
owned by the City and containing underground public utilities, which runs south from the 
intersection of Summerhaven Drive and Evan Drive to Oakwood Lane, creating a short cut 
for Summerhaven residents and their guests to a nearby City park and its extensive 
playground facilities.  The path will limit public street crossings between Summerhaven 
and the park to one, across the lightly-trafficked Oakwood Lane, at its intersection with 
Timothy Drive.  The path will be maintained under the Easement Agreement.  

c. Statistical data on minimum lot sizes in the development, the precise areas of all development 
lots and pads, density/intensity of various parts of the development, floor area ratio, impervious 
surface area ratio and landscape surface area ratio of various land uses, expected staging, and any 
other plans required by the City.  See 3(g), above. 
d. Notations relating (3) (a) 3.a.-f., above to specific area.  See Exhibit G. 
 
5. Landscaping Plan, noting approximate locations of foundation, street, yard and paving, 
landscaping, and compliance with landscaping requirements, and the use of extra landscaping and 
bufferyards.  There are no residential landscaping requirements for single-family residences in 
the base district TR-6, Two-family Zoning District.  Each owner in Phase II will landscape his or 
her yard as he or she sees fit. 
 
6.  Building Elevations of exteriors of all buildings:  See Group Exhibit E. 
 
7. General Signage Plan, including all project identification signs and concepts for public fixtures 
and signs (such as street light fixtures and/or poles or street sign faces and/or poles) which vary 
from City standards or common practices.  Signage and light fixtures and poles for Phase III shall 
be substantially similar in appearance and location to the signage and light fixtures and poles for 
Phase I and Phase II, to preserve continuity with Phase I and Phase II.  Only directional and street 
signage is planned for Phase III; no project identification signage is needed. 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 7 
 

 
8. General Outline of Intended Organizational Structure:  Phase III will be under 
condominium ownership as a part of Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II Condominium, pursuant to 
the First Amendment to Declaration and Addendum No. 1, consisting of up to 23 additional single-
family site condominium units.  
 
    The cost of the maintenance, repair and replacement of the private streets, the 
storm water management facilities, the pool and the pool house, the pedestrian path to Oakwood 
Lane, and other common amenities and private infrastructure used by all unit owners in 
Summerhaven are shared under the Easement Agreement.   
 
9.  Consistency of Proposed PIP with Approved GDP: The proposed PIP for Phase III is 
fully consistent with the approved GDP for Phase II and Phase III (as amended), and with the 
approved PIP for Phase I, using many of the same flexibilities from bulk and other zoning 
standards in all phases and implementing varied but complementary design themes, to create a 
phased, seamless, predominantly single-family development throughout Summerhaven.  
 
10.  All Variations between Requirements of GPD and PIP:  None, as the GDP for Phase III is 
being amended concurrently. 
 
11.  Proof of Financing Capability:  McMurr II will enter into a development agreement with the 
City for the Phase III improvements and the Phase I sanitary sewer repairs and submit a 
performance bond thereunder in the amount of 120% of the value of the public improvements, as 
determined by the City Engineer and McMurr II.  
 
 McMurr II respectfully requests that the City grant the PIP pursuant to this Application, to 
complete this infill development in the City, subject to such reasonable conditions as the City may 
impose.     
  



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 8 
 

EXHIBIT A 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PHASE III 

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4  AND PART OF THE 
NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 1, TOWN 1 NORTH, RANGE 17 
EAST, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN, DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS: 

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
NO. 754, RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 28944 OF WALWORTH COUNTY CERTIFIED 
SURVEYS, SAID POINT LOCATED S 89DEG 31MIN 36SEC W, 733.28 FEET FROM THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 36 (T2N, R17E); THENCE S 01DEG 33MIN 
07SEC E, ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1 CSM 754, 129.35 FEET TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 1 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE S 
01DEG 35MIN 49SEC E, 66.14 FEET ALONG SAID CSM 754 TO AN IRON PIPE STAKE 
FOUND MARKING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 3 OF SAID CSM 754; THENCE 
S 01DEG 31MIN 43SEC E, TO AN IRON PIPE STAKE FOUND AT THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF SAID CSM 754, 128.13 FEET, SAID POINT BEING ON THE NORTH LINE OF 
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NUMBER 4098; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID 
CSM 4098, N 89DEG 51MIN 07SEC W, 113.85 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE STAKE AT THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID CSM 4098 AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 2820; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID CSM 
2820, N 89DEG 57MIN 18SEC W, 282.16 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID 
CSM 2820 AND THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 14 OF GENEVA WOODS 
SUBDIVISION; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF GENEVA WOODS 
SUBDIVISION, S 89DEG 26MIN 58SEC W, 345.08 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE STAKE FOUND 
MARKING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 11 OF SAID GENEVA WOODS 
SUBDIVISION; THENCE ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF GENEVA WOODS 
SUBDIVISION, S 89DEG 00MIN 57SEC W, 50.64 FEET TO A FOUND IRON REBAR 
STAKE; THENCE N 00DEG 46MIN 30SEC W, 323.66 FEET TO A FOUND IRON REBAR 
STAKE ON THE SOUTH LINE OF LAKE SHORE VILLAGE CONDOMINIUM; THENCE N 
89DEG 53MIN 53SEC E, 207.84 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE STAKE FOUND MARKING THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LAKE SHORE VILLAGE CONDOMINIUM; THENCE N 
89DEG 55MIN 25SEC E, 103.47 FEET; THENCE S 06DEG 43MIN 55SEC E, 226.04 FEET; 
THENCE S 89DEG 41MIN 51SEC E, 124.31 FEET; THENCE N 04DEG 56MIN 22SEC W, 
161.61 FEET; THENCE N89DEG 38MIN 02SEC E, 310.88 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 33MIN 
07SEC E, 64.31 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 40MIN 56SEC E, 30.01 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 201,115 SQUARE FEET (4.62 ACRES) OF LAND, MORE OR 
LESS; 



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 9 
 

Property Index Number: ZSUM 00002 

AND  
LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 754, SAID SURVEY BEING A PART OF THE 
NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 1, T1N, R17E, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, WALWORTH 
COUNTY, WISCONSIN, AND RECORDED IN VOL. 3 OF CERTIFIED SURVEYS AT PAGE 
275 AS DOCUMENT NO. 28944 WALWORTH COUNTY RECORDS;   
  
Property Index Number: ZA 75400001  
 
AND 
THE 66 FOOT-WIDE PRIVATE DRIVE AS PLATTED ON CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 
754, RECORDED IN VOLUME NO. 3 ON PAGE 275 OF WALWORTH COUNTY CERTIFIED 
SURVEYS AS DOCUMENT NO. 28944 (end of legal description).  
 

  



T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 10 
 

EXHIBIT B 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

LOCATION MAP 

 

  See attached. 

  





T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 11 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT C 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

MAP OF SITE AND LIST OF OWNERS WITHIN 300 FEET 

 

  See attached. 

 
  



300 Foot Buffer
WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN

Gr id  
No rt hGeo de tic

Nort h

Ö

0 90 180 270 360 45045
Feet

Wisconsin State Plane Coordinate System, South Zone
Hor izontal  Datum:  NAD27

Map Produced on:

Walworth County Information Technology Department
Land Information Division
1800 County Trunk NN
Elk horn, Wisconsin  53121- 1001
DISC LAI M ER: TH E I NFOR M ATIO N PR OV IDED  O N TH IS M AP HAS BEEN PRO DUC ED 
AND PRO CESS ED FR OM  SO UR CES BEL IEVED  TO BE R ELI ABLE . NO  W ARR ANTY, 
EXPRESS ED O R IM PL IED,  IS M ADE R EG ARDI NG  AC CUR ACY,  ADEQ UA CY, CO M PLETEN ESS, 
LEG AL ITY, R EL IABIL ITY OR  USEFU LN ESS O F  THI S IN FOR MA TI ON . THE  IN FO RM ATI ON  
CO NTAIN ED H EREI N W IL L N OT  BE AC CEPTED  AS A N O FF ICI AL DO CUM EN T.

Author:
1 inch = 188 feet

8/19/2019













T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 12 
 

EXHIBIT D 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

SITE PLAN 

 

  See attached. 

  





T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 13 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT E 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III  

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

SAMPLE ELEVATIONS & FLOOR PLANS 

 

  See attached. 

  















T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 14 
 

GROUP EXHIBIT F 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

FINAL ENGINEERING PLANS FOR PHASE III 

  See attached. 

  

























T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2019 phase 3\off copy\pd-pip app-4.docx Page 15 
 

EXHIBIT G 
SUMMERHAVEN – PHASE III 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN DRAWING 

  See attached. 

 

 









City of Lake Geneva 

APPLICATION FOR LAND DIVISION REVIEW 

    CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP    or           SUBDIVISION PLAT 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF CURRENT OWNER: 

TELEPHONE NUMBER OF CURRENT OWNER:  

EMAIL ADDRESS:   _______________________________________________________________________________ 

PROJECT ADDRESS _________________________________ TAX KEY NUMBER: _________________ 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF APPLICANT: 

TELEPHONE NUMBER OF APPLICANT:  

EMAIL ADDRESS:   _______________________________________________________________________________ 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF SURVEYOR: 

TELEPHONE NUMBER OF SURVEYOR:  

SHORT STATEMENT DESCRIBING PURPOSE OF APPLICATION: 

(            ) 

(            )  

(            )  

- Addendum to Plat
of  Condominium

McMurr II, LLC, 351 W. Hubbard, Suite 610, Chicago, IL 60654, Attn: Murray S. Peretz

312 ) 527-3600 X 1

dem@mclcompanies.com

Summerhaven Phase III                                                         ZSUM 00002 &
 ZA 75400001 

Same as Owner

FARRIS, HANSEN & ASSOCIATES, INC., 7 Ridgway Court, Elkhorn, WI 53121

  262      723-2098

Summerhaven of Lake Geneva II Condominium permits the addition of up to 23 single-family site 
condominium units in its expansion area, Phase III of the Summerhaven development.  McMurr II files the 
First Addendum to Plat and the First Amendment to Declaration of Condominium for Summerhaven II to 
add such units.  Concurrently herewith, McMurr II files the First Amendment to the GDP and the Precise 
Implementation Plan for Phase III of Summerhaven.  

X

 




	0-September 28, 2020 Council Agenda
	City of Lake Geneva regular common council
	Monday, September 28, 2020 6:00 p.m.

	08-September 14, 2020 Council Minutes
	UCity of Lake Geneva regular common council Minutes
	UMonday, September 14, 2020 6:00 p.m.

	09a-BID Oktoberfest Permit Application
	09b-Aveda Massage License Application
	11-Resolution 20-R64- Resolution to Ratify the Emergency Proclamation
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	12a-DRAFT Face Covering Ordinance July 27 (2)
	12b-DRAFT Face Covering Ordinance July 27 (3)
	13aa-Deferred Peller Assessment
	DEFERRED ASSESSMENTS

	13ab-Peller Investments - Letter to City Council - 9-10
	Peller Investments v. City of Lake Geneva - 2012ap001002.pdf
	Panel2


	13ba-Lake Geneva Dev Corp Mortgage for Traver Demolition-52253
	13bb-First Amendment to Developers Agreement for 323 Broad Street-12-26-19
	13bc-Development Agreement 323 Broad Street 12-26-19
	13c-Sept 2020 FLR. Cemetery Mower replacement.
	13d-Shared Services Administrative Summary ver 9.8.20
	13ea-Prepaid Check Report- FLR Approved 9-15-2020
	13eb-Regular Check Report- FLR Approved 9-15-2020
	14aa-Resolution 20-R65-801 Geneva Pkwy CUP
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	14ab-801 Geneva Pkwy CUP
	801 Geneva Pkwy CUP.pdf
	7. 801 Geneva Pkwy N CUP

	14ba-Resolution 20-R66-816 Wisconsin St. GDP
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	14bb-816 Wisconsin Street GDP
	816 Wisconsin St. GDP.pdf
	9. 816 Wisconsin Street  GDP Final
	816 Wisconsin Street GDP Application.pdf
	816 Wisconsn Street Land Use Map
	816 Wisconsin Street Plat
	816 Wisconsin Street Plans


	14ca-Resolution 20-R67-Summerhaven phase III PIP
	Council Action: Adopted Failed          Vote

	14cb-Summerhaven III PIP
	Summerhaven PIP.pdf
	8. Summerhaven Phase III PIP
	1. pd-pip app-4 w all exhs-080720-1 of 5.pdf
	2. pd-pip app-4 w all exhs-080720-2 of 5
	3. pd-pip app-4 w all exhs-080720-3 of 5
	4. pd-pip app-4 w all exhs-080720-4 of 5
	5. pd-pip app-4 w all exhs-080720-5 of 5
	6. 081020 p3 final engrg pgs 4-5 - fh
	7. 050820 land dvsn app-1st addndm to plat-signed - CSM





